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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

To the Members of Apollo Hospitals International Limited
Report on the audit of the Standalone Financial Statements
Opinion

We have audited the accompanying standalone financial statements of Apollo Hospitals International Limited
(“the Company”), which comprise the Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2025, the Statement of Profit and Loss
(including Other Comprehensive Income), the Statement of Changes in Equity and the Statement of Cash Flows for
the year then ended, and notes to the standalone financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies and other explanatory information.

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to explanations given to us, the aforesaid standalone
financial statements give the information required by the Companies Act, 2013 (“the Act”) in the manner so required
and give a true and fair view in conformity with the Indian Accounting Standards prescribed under Section 133 of
the Act read with the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015, as amended, (“Ind AS™) and other
accounting principles generally accepted in India, of the state of affairs of the Company as at March 31, 2025, its
total comprehensive income (comprising of profit and other comprehensive income), changes in equity and its cash
flows for the year then ended.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with the Standards on Auditing (SAs) specified under section 143(10) of the
Act. Our responsibilities under those Standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Standalone Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with
the Code of Ethics issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India together with the ethical requirements
that are relevant to our audit of the standalone financial statements under the provisions of the Act and the Rules
thereunder, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the

‘Code of Ethics. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis

for our opinion on the standalone financial statements.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
standalone financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
standalone financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters. We have no key audit matters to be communicated in our report.

Emphasis of Matter

We draw attention to Note 40 in the standalone financial statements, which describes the Regional Director Southern
Region’s Order No. 233/AB2821565/RD, Chennai dated 25-04-2025, confirming the merger of Apollo Amrish-
Oncology Services Private Limited (AAOSPL) with Apollo Hospitals International Limited (AHIL) with an
appointed date of 1 April 2024.
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Basis for Emphasis:
Treatment under Ind AS 103:

Business combinations between entities under common control shall be accounted for using the pooling of interest’s
method, which requires the assets and liabilities of the combining entities to be reflected at their carrying amounts,
with no fair-value adjustments other than those necessary to harmonize accounting policies.

ICAI ITFG Clarification:

The Institute of Chartered Accountants of India’s ITFG Clarification Bulletin 9, Issue 2(A) (Situation 2) dated May
15, 2017 provided guidance on business combinations of entities under common control, requiring the use of

consolidated figures at the acquisition date for standalone reporting purposes. i.e. the date of obtaining control in
AAQOSPL by AHIL i.e. August 1, 2023

Option 1 - The standalone financial statements of AHIL for the year ended 31 March 2025 have been prepared using
the pooling-of-interests method, in accordance with Appendix C of Ind AS 103 (as amended), and based on the
guidance provided in the ICAI’s ITFG Clarification Bulletin 9, Issue 2(A). Accordingly, the Company has recognised
the carrying amounts of the assets, liabilities, and reserves of AAOSPL as reflected in the consolidated financial
statements of AHIL for the year ended 31 March 2024, and these have been retained in the merged standalone
financial statements of AHIL.

Option 2 -The financial statements of AHIL for the year ended March 31, 2025 have been prepared on a pooling-of-
interests basis, in accordance with Appendix C of Ind AS 103 (as amended) and the ICAI’s ITFG Clarification
Bulletin 9, Issue 2(A). Accordingly, the goodwill arising on the acquisition of AAOSPL on August 1, 2023, of INR
2700 lakhs has been retained in the Standalone financial statements of AHIL as at March 31, 2025 and March 31,
2024

Information Other than the Financial Statements and Auditor’s Report Thereon

6. The Company’s Board of Directors is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the
information included in the director’s report but does not include the standalone financial statements and our auci;litor’s
report thereon. Our opinion on the standalone financial statements does not cover the other information and we do

not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the standalone financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the standalone financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based pn the
work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required
to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
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Management’s Responsibility for the Standalone Financial Statements

The Company’s Board of Directors is responsible for the matters stated in section 134(5) of the Act with respe

ct to

the preparation of these standalone financial statements that give a true and fair view of the financial posiition,
financial performance, changes in equity and cash flows of the Company in accordance with the accounting pringiples

generally accepted in India, including the Ind AS specified under section 133 of the Act. This responsibility
includes maintenance of adequate accounting records in accordance with the provisions of the Act for safeguar

also
ding

of the assets of the Company and for preventing and detecting frauds and other irregularities; selection and applidation
of appropriate accounting policies; making judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and design,
implementation and maintenance of adequate internal financial controls, that were operating effectively for enspiring
the accuracy and completeness of the accounting records, relevant to the preparation and presentation of the
standalone financial statements that give a true and fair view and are free from material misstatement, whether due

to fraud or error.

In preparing the standalone financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s abiljty to

continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going con

cem

basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no
realistic alternative but to do so. Those Board of Directors are also responsible for overseeing the Company’s

financial reporting process.

Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the standalone financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the standalone financial statements as a wholb are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with SAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or errot and
are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the

economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these standalone financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with SAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional sceptigism

throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the standalone financial statements, whether due to frau
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fi

dor
and
raud

is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,

misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that| are
appropriate in the circumstances. Under Section 143(3)(i) of the Act, we are also responsible for expressing| our

opinion on whether the company has adequate internal financial controls with reference to standalone finar
statements in place and the operating effectiveness of such controls.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and rel
disclosures made by management.

1cial

ated
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Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on

the

audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant

doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists,

we

are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the standalone financial statements

or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evide

1ce

obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to ¢ease

to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the standalone financial statements, including

the

disclosures, and whether the standalone financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events|in a

manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing
of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify

during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may

reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.
Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

As required by Section 143(3) of the Act, based on our audit we report that:

We have sought and obtained all the information and explanations which to the best of our knowledge and be
were necessary for the purposes of our audit,

In our opinion, proper books of account as required by law have been kept by the Company so far as it appears fi
our examination of those books.

The Balance Sheet, the Statement of Profit and Loss (including other comprehensive income), the Statement
Changes in Equity and the Statement of Cash Flows dealt with by this Report are in agreement with the books
account.

lief

om

of
of

In our opinion, the aforesaid standalone financial statements comply with the Indian Accounting Standards specified

under Section 133 of the Act,

On the basis of the written representations received from the directors as on March 31, 2025 taken on record by

the

Board of Directors, none of the directors are disqualified as on March 31, 2025 from being appointed as a director in

terms of Section 164 (2) of the Act.

With respect to the adequacy of the internal financial controls with reference to standalone financial statements| of
the Company and the operatin g effectiveness of such controls, refer to our separate Report in Annexure A. Qur report
expresses an unmodified opinion on the adequacy and operating effectiveness of the Company’s internal finandial

controls over financial reporting.
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(g) With respect to other matters to be included in Auditor’s Report in accordance with the requirements of se

197(16) of the Act, as amended:

In our opinion and best of our information and according to the explanation given to us, the remuner
paid/provided by the holding company to its directors during the year is in accordance with the provisions of se

197 of the Act.

(h) With respect to the other matters to be included in the Auditor’s Report in accordance with Rule 11 of the Comp

ction

ation
ction

anies

(Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014, as amended, in our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the

explanations given to us:

(i) The Company has disclosed the impact of pending litigations on its financial position in its standalone financial

statements — Refer Note 32 to the standalone financial statements;

(i) The Company did not have any long-term contracts including derivative contracts for which there were any

material foreseeable losses.

(iii) There were no amounts which were required to be transferred to the Investor Education and Protection Fund by

the Company during the year ended March 3 1,2025.

(iv) (a) The Management has represented that, to the best of its knowledge and belief, no funds (which are material
cither individually or in the aggregate) have been advanced or loaned or invested (either from borrowed funds
or share premium or any other sources or kind of funds) by the Company to or in any other person or entity,
including foreign entity (“Intermediaries™), with the understanding, whether recorded in writing or otherwise,
that the Intermediary shall, whether, directly or indirectly lend or invest in other persons or entities identified in
any manner whatsoever by or on behalf of the Company (*Ultimate Beneficiaries”) or provide any guarantee,

security or the like on behalf of the Ultimate Beneficiaries;

(b) The Management has represented, that, to the best of its knowledge and belief, no funds (which are matérial
either individually or in the aggregate) have been received by the Company from any person or entity, including
foreign entity (“Funding Parties™), with the understanding, whether recorded in writing or otherwise, that| the
Company shall, whether, directly or indirectly, lend or invest in other persons or entities identified in any manner
whatsoever by or on behalf of the F unding Party (“Ultimate Beneficiaries™) or provide any guarantee, security

or the like on behalf of the Ultimate Beneficiaries;

(¢) Based on the audit procedures that have been considered reasonable and appropriate in the circumstanges,
nothing has come to our notice that has caused us to believe that the representations under sub-clause (i) and|(ii)

of Rule 11(e), as provided under (a) and (b) above, contain any material misstatement.

(v) There is no dividend declared or paid during the year by the company. Hence, reporting of compliance with

section 123 of the Companies Act, 2013 does not arise.
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(i) Based on our examinations which include test checks performed by us on the Company, the company
has accounting software’s for maintaining their books of accounts for the financial year ended March
31, 2025, which has a feature of recording audit trail (edit log) facility and the same has operate
throughout the year for all relevant transactions recorded in the software. Further during the course
of audit, we have not come across any instances of the audit trail feature being tampered with and
the audit trail has been preserved by the company as per the statutory requirements for record

retention.

C

14. As required by the Companies (Auditor’s Report) Order, 2020 (“the Order™), issued by the Central
Government of India in terms of sub-section (11) of section 143 of the Act, we give in the Annexure B a
statement on the matters specified in paragraphs 3 and 4 of the Order, to the extent applicable.

for S Viswanathan LLP
Ch_artered Accountants
Firm Registration Number: 004770S/5200025

0

V C Krishnan m\ L&
Partner

Membership Number: 022167

UDIN: R 5028 b T BV 0 ZHK 51h ]

Place: Chennai
Date: April 30, 2025

&/ "REGN. No.
0047708/
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Report on the Internal Financial Controls with reference to financial statements under Clause (i)
of Sub-section 3 of Section 143 of the Act

1. We have audited the internal financial controls of Apollo Hospitals International Limited (“the
Company”) as of March 31, 2025 in conjunction with our audit of the standalone financial
statements of the Company for the year ended on that date.

Management’s Responsibility for Internal Financial Controls

2. The Company’s management is responsible for establishing and maintaining internal financial
controls based on the internal control over financial reporting criteria established by the Company
considering the essential components of internal control stated in the Guidance Note on Audit of
Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting issued by the Institute of Chartered
Accountants of India (ICAI). These responsibilities include the design, implementation and
maintenance of adequate internal financial controls that were operating effectively for ensuring the
orderly and efficient conduct of its business, including adherence to company’s policies, the
safeguarding of its assets, the prevention and detection of frauds and errors, the accuracy and
completeness of the accounting records, and the timely preparation of reliable financial information,
as required under the Act.

Auditors’ Responsibility

3. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company's internal financial controls with
reference to financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with
the Guidance Note on Audit of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting (the “Guidance
Note”) and the Standards on Auditing, issued by ICAI and deemed to be prescribed under section
143(10) of the Act, to the extent applicable to an audit of internal financial controls, both applicable
to an audit of Internal Financial Controls and issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of
India. Those Standards and the Guidance Note require that we comply with ethical requirements
and plan and perform the audit to obtain rea$onab1e assurance about whether adequate internal
financial controls with reference to standalone financial statements were established and maintained
and if such controls operated effectively in all material respects.

4. Our audit involves performing procedures to| obtain audit evidence about the adequacy of the
internal financial controls system with 1‘efen|3nce to standalone financial statements and their
operating effectiveness. Our audit of internal financial controls with reference to standalone

financial statements included obtaining an t!mderstanding of internal financial controls with

reference to standalone financial statements, aslise.ssing the risk that a material weakness exists, and
testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the
assessed risk. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment
of the risks of material misstatement of the standalone financial statements, whether due to fraud or

crror.

5. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our audit opinion on the Company’s internal financial controls system with reference to
standalone financial statements.
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Meaning of Internal Financial Controls with reference to financial statements

6. A Company's internal financial controls with reference to financial statements is a process designed to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial staten‘iuents
for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A Company's internal

financial control with reference to financial statements includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain

to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and
dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) |provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as
necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with
authorisations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding
prevention or timely detection of unauthorised acquisition, use, or disposition of the company's assets| that
could have a material effect on the financial s‘gatements.

Inherent Limitations of Internal Financial Controls with reference to standalone financial
statements

7. Because of the inherent limitations of internal financial controls with reference to standalone financial
statements, including the possibility of collusion or improper management override of controls, material
misstatements due to error or fraud may occur|and not be detected. Also, projections of any evaluation of the
internal financial controls with reference to stahdalone financial statements to future periods are subject to the
risk that the internal financial controls with reference to standalone financial statements may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures
may deteriorate.

Opinion

8. In our opinion, the Company has, in all material respects, an adequate internal financial controls system with
reference to standalone financial statements and such internal financial controls with reference to standalone
financial statements were operating effectively as at March 31, 2025, based on the internal control over
financial reporting criteria established by the Company considering the essential components of internal
control stated in the Guidance Note on Audit of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting issued
by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India,

for S Viswanathan LLP
Chartered Accountants
Firm Registration Number: 004770S/S200025

Moo

V C Krishnan
Partner
Membership Number: 022167 .
UDIN: 250622 [FTRMO=HK 51E7]
Place: Chennai

Date: April 30, 2025
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To the best of our information and according to the explanations provided to us by the Company |
and the books of account and records examined by us in the normal course of audit, we state that:

() Inrespect of the Company’s Property, Plant and Equipment and Intangible Assets:

(a) (A) The Company is maintaining proper records showing full particulars, including
quantitative details and situation of property, plant and equipment.

(B) The Company is maintaining proper records showing full particulars of intangible
assets.

|
(b) Some of the Fixed assets were physically verified by the management during the year in |
accordance with the program of verification which in our opinion provides for the physical |

verification of all the fixed assets at reasonable intervals and no such material discrepancies
were noticed on such verification,

(c) Based on our examination of the registered sale deed / transfer deed / conveyance deed |
provided to us, we report that, the title in respect of Land and title deeds of all other |
immovable properties (other than properties where the company is the lessee and the lease |
agreements are duly executed in favour of the lessee), disclosed in the financial statements I

included under Property, Plant and Equipment are held in the name of the Company as at |
the balance sheet date.

(d) The Company has not revalued any of jts Property, Plant and Equipment (including right- ;
of-use assets) and intangible assets during the year.
(¢) No proceedings have been initiated dur ng the year or are pending against the Company as

at March 31, 2025 for holding any benami property under the Benami Transactions
(Prohibition) Act, 1988 (as amended in 016) and rules made thereunder.

(i) (a) Stock of stores, spares, consumables, ¢hemicals, and lab materials have been physically

verified at reasonable intervals by the management. The discrepancies on such verification
have been properly dealt with in the books of account.

(b) The company has been sanctioned working capital limits in excess of five crore rupees, in
aggregate, from banks or financial institiitions on the basis of security of current assets. As

per the information supplied to us, the periodic statements filed by the Company with such
banks are in agreement with the books of accounts.

(i)  During the year under review, the Comp

mny has not made investment in the share capital of
any company.

(a)The Company has given any loans or advances in t

review. In our opinion, the investment made during th
Company’s interest.

he nature of loans to any party during the year under
e year is, prima facie, not prejudicial to the
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]
Particulars Guarantees Security Loans Advances in the nature of loans

Aggregate Amount during
the year

Subsidiaries 2,00,00,000

Joint ventures

Associales

Others

Balance outstanding as on
the balance sheet date

Subsidiaries 2,00,00,000

Joint ventures

Associates

Others

(b) The company has not made any investment during the year. Hence, the reporting under clause
3(iii)(b) is not applicable.

(¢) The Company has not given any loans or|advances in the nature of loans to any party during the
year under review. Hence, the reporting under Clause 3(iii)(c) is not applicable.

(d) The Company has not made any investment during the year in the nature of loans to any party
during the year under review. Hence, the reporting under Clause 3(iii)(d) is not applicable.

() The Company has not given any loans or advances in the nature of loans to any party during the
year under review. Hence, the reporting under Clause 3(iii)(e) is not applicable.

(f) Based on the audit procedures performed, the Company has not granted any loans either repayable
on demand or without specifying any terms or period of repayment during the year. Hence, reporting
under clause 3 (iii)(f) of the Order is not applicable.

The Company has not provided advances ir| the nature of loans or provided security during the year.

(iv) In our opinion, and according to the information and explanations given to us, the Company has
complied with the provisions of Section 185 and 186 of the Companies Act, 2013 in respect of the
loans provided by it. The company has not nade any investment during the period of review.

v) The Company has not accepted any deposits from the public within the meaning of Sections 73, 74,
75 and 76 of the Act and the Rules framed there under to the extent notified.

(vi) Pursuant to the rule made by the Central Government of India, the Company is required to
maintain cost records as specified under Section 148(1) of the Act in respect of its products and
are of the opinion that, prima facie, the prescribed accounts and records have been made a
maintained. We have not however made 3 detailed examination of the records with a vi
determine whether they are accurate or complete.




:‘iMIS S. VISWANATHAN LLP Continuation Sheet No........cccccceeevenee

Chartered Accountants
Annexure B to Independent Auditors’ Report
Referred to in paragraph 13 of the Independent Auditors' Report of even date to the Members of Apollo Hospitals

International Limited on the Standalone Financial Statements as of and for the year ended March 31, 2025
Page 3 of 5

(vii) (a) According to the information and explanations given to us and the records of the Company examined
by us, in our opinion, the Company is generally regular in depositing undisputed statutory dues,
including provident fund, employees’ stafe insurance, income tax, goods and services tax, cess and
other material statutory dues, as applicable, with the appropriate authorities. There are no undisputed
statutory dues payable in respect to the above statues, outstanding as at March 31, 2025, for a period
of more than six months from the date they became payable. The company has complied with the
requirements for payment of PF dues as per the Supreme Court order dated 28.02.2019. There are
no additional claims from PF authorities for payment of dues as per the supreme court order dated
28.02.2019, to this extent of no claim by the PF authorities in our opinion the company is not in
arrears for more than six months.

(b) According to the information and explanations given to us and the records of the Company examined
by us, there are no dues of provident find, employees’ state insurance, income-tax, goods and
services tax, duty of customs, duty of exdise, value added tax, cess which have not been deposited
on account of any dispute. '

(viii)  There were no transactions relating to pre viously unrecorded income that have been surrendered or
disclosed as income during the year in the tax assessments under the Income Tax Act, 1961 (43 of
1961).

(ix) (a) The company has no loan, borrowings for the period under review, Hence this clause does not apply.

(b) The Company has not been declared willful defaulter by any bank or financial institution or
government or any government authority.

(¢) There are no term loans taken by the Com pany during the period under review.

(d) On an overall examination of the financial statements of the Company, funds raised on short-term
basis have, prima facie, not been used for ong-term purposes by the Company.

(¢) On an overall examination of the financial statements of the Company, the Company has not taken
any funds from any entity or person on acdount of or to meet the obligations of its subsidiary.

(f) The Company has not raised any loans during the year on the pledge of securities held in its
subsidiary company and hence reporting oh clause 3(ix)(f) of the Order is not applicable.

(%) (a) The Company has not raised any moneys by way of initial public offer, further public offer (including
debt instruments).

(b) The Company has not made preferential allotment of shares via a rights issue during the year under
review.

(xi) (a) No fraud by the Company and no material ffaud on the Company has been noticed or reported during
the year.

(b) No report under sub-section (12) of section| 143 of the Companies Act has been filed in Form ADT-
4 as prescribed under rule 13 of Companjes (Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014 with the Central
Government, during the year and upto the date of this report.

(c) Based on the information and explanationg provided to us, we understand that there have been ng
whistle blower complaints received by the Company during the year under report.
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(xii) ~ The Company is not a Nidhi Company and hence reporting under Para 3(xii) of the Order is not
applicable.

(xiii)  In our opinion, the Company is in compliance with Section 177 and 188 of the Companies Act, 2013
with respect to applicable transactions with related parties and the details of related party transactions
have been disclosed in the standalone financial statements as required by the applicable accounting
standards.

(xiv) (a) In our opinion the Company has an adeqyate internal audit system commensurate with the size and
the nature of its business.

(b) We have considered, the internal audit reports for the year under audit, issued to the Company during
the year and till date.

(xv) In our opinion during the year the Company has not entered into any non-cash transactions with its
Directors or persons connected with itg directors and hence provisions of section 192 of the
Companies Act, 2013 are not applicable 10 the Company.

(xvi) (a) In our opinion, the Company is not required to be registered under section 45-IA of the Reserve
Bank of India Act, 1934. Hence, reporting under Clause 3(xvi)(a) of the Order is not applicable.

(b) The Company has not conducted any non-banking financial or housing finance activities during the
year under report.

(c) The Company is not a Core Investment Company (as defined in the Core Investment Companies
(Reserve Bank) Directions, 2016). Henge, reporting under Clause 3(xvi)(c) of the Order is not
applicable.

(d) In our opinion, there is no Core Investment Company within the Group (as defined in the Core
Investment Companies (Reserve Bank) Directions, 2016) and accordingly reporting under Clause
3(xvi)(d) of the Order is not applicable.

(xvii)  The Company has not incurred cash lossgs during the financial year covered by our audit or in the
immediately preceding financial year.

(xviii)  There has been no resignation of the statutory auditors of the Company in respect of the year under
audit.

(xix)  On the basis of the Financial ratios, aging and expected dates of realization of Financial assets and
payment of financial liabilities, other ipformation accompanying the financial statements, the
auditor's knowledge of the Board of Directors and Management plans, we are of the opinion that no
material uncertainty exists as on the date pf the audit report that company is capable of meeting its
liabilities existing at the date of the balange sheet as and when they fall due within a period of one
year from the balance sheet date. We however state that this is not an assurance as to the future
viability of the Company. We further state that our reporting is based on facts upto the date of audit
report and we neither give any guarantee|nor any assurance that all liabilities falling due within a
period of one year from the balance sheet date, will get discharged by the Company as and
they fall due.




M/s. S. VISWANATHAN LLP Continuation Sheet NO........coceevvverennnes

Chartered Accountants

Annexure B to Independent Auditors’ Report

Referred to in paragraph 13 of the Independent Auditors' Report of even date to the Members of Apollo Hospitals
International Limited on the Standalone Financial Statements as of and for the year ended March 31, 2025
Page 5 of 5

(xx) (a) There are no unspent amounts towards Carporate Social Responsibility (CSR) on other than ongoing
projects requiring a transfer to a Fund spegified in Schedule VII to the Companies Act in compliance
with second proviso to sub-section (5) of Section 135 of the said Act. Accordingly, reporting under
Clause 3(xx)(a) of the Order is not appligable for the year.

(b) There are no ongoing projects with respect to CSR and hence reporting under Clause 3(xx)(b) of the
Order is not applicable for the year.

for S Viswanathan LLP
Chartered Accountants
Firm Registration Number: 004770S/5200025

RN

V C Krishnan =
Partner

Membership Number: 022167
UDIN: 25 022167 3™ o2 H f25T6

Place: Chennai
Date: April 30, 2025




Apollo Hospitals International Limited
Standalone Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2025

All amounts are in Indian Rupees unless otherwise slated

As at As at
Particular Note No 31-Mar-25 31-Mar-24
ASSETS
Non-current assets
(a) Property, Plant and Equipment 5 1,035,355722 936,642,715
(b) Capital work-in-progress 5 120,074,295 22,332 687
(c) Lease Assets 55 74,330,507 87,896,055
(d) Other Intangible assets
(i) Goodwill 6.1 273,649,693 273,649,693
(ii) Other Intangible assets 6.1 2,038,050 2,430,130
() Financial Assels - -
(1) Investments - =
a) Investments in Subsidiaries 7 251,246 R00 251,246 K00
b) Investments in Joint Ventures 7 - -
¢) Onher investments - -
(ii) Trade receivables 8 - -
(iii) Loans - -
(iv) Finance lease receivables - -
(v) Other financial assets 9 19,848 363 18,599 663
(f) Deferred tax assets (Net) 19 - -
(g) Other non-current assets 12 - -
Total Non - Current Assets 1,776,543,430 1,592,997,744
Current assets
(a) Inventories 10 76,716,359 74,173,456
(b) Financial assets - -
(i) Other investments - -
(ii) Trade receivables 8 367,945,784 437,470,286
(1) Cash and cash equivalenis 11.1 117,314,205 77,773,748
(iv) Bank balances other than (1) above 11.2 325,190,718 520630414
(v) Loans - -
(vi) Finance lease receivables . -
(vii) Other financial assets 9 52,951,367 74,643 870
(c) Current Tax Assets (Net) 13 105,305,831 75,947,213
(d) Other current assets 12 79,034,378 151,562,837
1,124,458,642 1,426,201,825

Assets classified as held for sale
Total current assets

Total assets
See accompanying notes to the financial statements
In terms of our report attached

For, S.Yiswanathan LLP
Chartered Accountants

V C Krishnan
Partner '30

M No. 022167

Chief Executive Officer

Place : Gandhinagar
Date: 30th April 2025

1,124,458 fd2 1,426 01 825

2,901,002,072 3,019,195,569

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors

Y

Director Director
DIN: DIN:
Sﬁr/;i:;hu Vaibhav Nagar

Chief Financial Officer Company Secretary



Apallo Hospitals International Limited
Standalone Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2025

All amounts are in Indian Rupees unless otherwise stated

As at As at
Particular Note No 31-Mar-25 31-Mar-24
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity
(a) Equity Share capital 14 1,006,030,680 1,006,030,680
(b) Convertible non-participating preference share capital - -
(c) Other equity 15 1,113,403 944 931,066,450
Equity attributable to owners of the Company 2,119,434 624 1,937,097,130
Non-controlling interests - -
Total Equity 2,119,434,624 1,937,097,130
Liabilities
Non-current liabilities
(a) Financial Liahilities
(1) Borrowings 16 13,406,468 19,516,412
(i) Lease Liahilities 52 33,946,501 47,407,407
(1) Other financial liahilities 17 - -
(b) Provisions 18 47,828 451 39,184,881
(c) Deferred tax liabilities (Net) 37,080,267 44 634,562
(d) Other non-current liabilities - -
Total Non - Current Liabilities 132,261,686 150,743,262
Current liabilities
(a) Financial Liabilities
(i) Borrowings ) 16 32,312,676 37,375,541
(ii) Trade payables 20 234,857,249 291,669,554
(iri) Other financial liabilities 17 6,509,156 22,859,635
(b) Provisions 18 10,129,537 9,473,697
(c) Current Tax Liabilities (Net) - -
(d) Other current liabilities 21 365,497,144 569,980,748
649,305,762 931,359,176
Liahilities directly associated with assets classified - -
as held for sale
Total Current Liabilities 649,305,762 931,359,176
Total Liahilities 781,567,448 1,082,102,438
Total Equity and Liabilities 2,901,002,072 3,019,199,569

See accompanying notes to the financial statements

In terms of our report attached
For, S.Viswanathan LLP
Chartered Accountants

Firm Regn. No: 0047708/5200025

For and on behalf of the Board of Direclors

V C Krishnan 1)
Partner 50\
M No. 022167

UDIN: 25002 Q@M
d

Place : Gandhinagar
Date: 30th April 2025

Director

DIN:

Si bihir Kumar Sahu Vaibhav Nagar
Chief Financial Officer Company Secretary
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Apollo Hospitals International Limited

Standalone Cash Flow Statement as on 31st March, 2025

All amounts are in Indian Rupees unless otherwise staled

Particular

As at

As at

3ist March.2025  31st March 2024

Cash flows from Operating Activities

Profit before tax for the year 338,197,462 400,396,165
Finance costs recognised in profit or loss 17,312,323 21,598 612
Interest Income recognised in profit or loss (34,661,601) (31,712,692)
Rental income recognised in profit or loss (8,201,565) (7,986,136)
Net Profit or loss on Sale of Assels 591,388 (949,139)
Adjustments for OCI (6,345,133) (1,113,285)
Provisions for Doubtful Debts (1,429,369) 14,359,611
Actual Bad Debt written off in profit or loss statement 21,331,745 13,212,115
Depreciation and amortisation of non-current assets 103,649,303 95,500,961
Net foreign exchange (gain)/loss - 2,657
(Increase)/decrease in amounts due from customers 49,622,126 (3,736,659)
(Increase)/decrease in inventories (2,542,902) (B,88R8,123)
(Increase)/decrease in other assets 72,528,459 98,510,093
(Increase)/decrease in other financial assels 20,443 803 (50,162,797)
Increase/(decrease) in amounts due to trade payables (56,812,305) 102,236,674
Increase/(decrease) in provisions 9,299,410 2,834,762
(Decrease)fincrease in other liahilities (204,483 605) (307,059,137)
(Decrease)/increase in other financial liabilities (16,350,479) 1,095,570
Cash generated from operations 302,149,059 337,939,253
Income taxes (paid) / refunds (81,824,507) (74,157,573)
Net cash generated by operating activities 220,324,552 263,781,680
Cash flows from investing activities
Payments to acquire financial assels - (18,550,000)
Interest received 34,661,601 37,289,576
Rental Income from properties & operaling Lease 8,201,565 7,986,136
Investments in Subsidiary - -
Payments for property, plant and equipment (187,529,765) (193,805,815)
Payments for CWIP (97,741,608) (19,824,785)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 802,500 3,558,466
Payments for intangible assels - (607,700)
Net cash (used in)/generated by investing activities (241,605,708) (183,954,123)
Cash flows from financing activities
Payment of Lease liahilities (15,529,711) (16,306,148)
Repayment of borrowings & others (6,109,944) 18,932,960
Dividends paid to owners of the Company (100,603,062) (100,603,062)
Interest paid (17,312,323) (27,175,497)
Net cash used in financing activities (139,555,039) (125,151,747)
Net increasce/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (160,836,195) (45,324,189)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 571,028,621 516,352,811
Effects of exchange rate changes on the balance of cash held in foreign currencies - -
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 410,192,426 571,028,621
Cash and Cash Equivalents as per Financial Sialements 410,192 247 571,028,621
Reconcilation of cash and cash equivalents as per the cash flow statement As at Asat -

31st March, 2025 31st March 2024

Cash and cash equivalents 442,504,923 608,404,163
Bank overdrafils (32,312,676) (37,375.541)
Balances as per statement of cash flows 410,192,247 571,028,621

For, S.Viswanathan LLP
Chartered Accountants
Firm Regn. No: 0047705/

V C Krishnan \
Partoer 0

M No. 022167

For and on behalf of the
Board of Directors

A A

Ditector

Direcior

; DIN: DIN
P 150221HBH 0ZHE \

Cdr Jelson Ka alakkat Sudhir Kumar Sahu  Vaibhav Nagar
Chief Executive Officer  Chief Financial Officer Company Secretary

Place : Gandhinagar
Date: 30th April 2025
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General Information

Apollo Hospitals International Limited (AHIL), Ahmedabad focuses on centers of excellence like Cardiac Sciences, Neuro Sciences,
Orthopedics, Cancer, Emergency Medicine and Solid Organ Transplants besides the complete range of more than 35 allied medical disciplines
under the same roof. AHIL is subsidary of Apollo Hospitals Enterprise Limited ('the Company') which is a public Company incorporated in
India.

Application of new and revised Ind ASs

The company has applied all the Ind ASs notified by the MCA. There are no Ind AS that have not been applied by the company.

Significant accounting policies

Statement of compliance

The standalone financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Indian Accounting Standards (Ind AS) as per the Companies
(Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015 notified under section 133 of the Companies Act 2013 (the act) and other relevant provisions of the
Act.

Basis of preparation and presentation
The Standalone financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for certain financial instruments that are mcmued at

fair values at the end of each reporting period, as explained in the accounting policies below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between markel participants at
the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly ohservable or estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating the
fair value of an asset or a liability, the Company takes into account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants would take
those characleristics into account when pricing the assel or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure
purposes in these Standalone financial statements is determined on such a basis leasing transactions thal are within the scope of Ind AS 116, and
measurements thal have some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in Ind AS 2 or value in use in Ind AS
36.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2, or 3 based on the degree to which the
inputs to the fair value measurements are obscrvable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are
described as follows:

Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabililies that the entity can access at the measurement
date;

Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are ohservable for the asset or liability, either directly or
indirectly; and

Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

Investments in associates and joint ventures

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net assets of the joint
arrangement. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an amrangement, which exists only when decisions about the relevant
activities require unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

The results and assels and liabilities of associates or joint ventures are incorporated in these Standalone financial statements using the equity
method of accounting, except when the investment, or a portion thereof, is classified as held for sale, in which case it is accounted for in
accordance with Ind AS 105. Under the equity method, an investment in an associate or a joint venture is initially recognised in the Standalone
balance sheet at cost and adjusted thereafier to recognise the Company's share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the
associate or joint venture. Distributions received from an associate or a joint venture reduce the carrying amount of the investment, When the
Company's share of losses of an associate or a joint venture exceeds the Company's interest in that associate or joint venture (which includes any
long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the Company's net investment in the associate or joint venture), the Company discontinues
recognising its share of further losses. Additional losses are recognised only to the extent that the Company has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate or joint venture,

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is accounted for using the equity method from the date on which the investee becomes an
associate or a joint venture. On acquisition of the investment in an associate or a joint venture, any excess of the cosl of the investment over the
Company's share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee is recognised as goodwill, which is included within
the carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the Company's share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the
cost of the investment, after reassessment, is recognised directly in equity as capital reserve in the period in which the investment is acquired.

Afler application of the equity method of accounting, the Company determines whether there any is objective evidence of impairment as a result
of one or more events that occurred afler the initial recognition of the net investment in an associate or a joint venture and thal event (or evenls)
has an impact on the estimated future cash flows from the net investment that can be reliably estimated. If there exists such an objective evidence
of impairment, then it is necessary to recognise impairment loss with respect to the Company’s investment in an associate or a joinl venture,

When necessary, the enlire carrying amount of the investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance with Ind AS 36

Impairment of Assets as a single asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with 1ts
S~

carrying amount, Any impairment loss recognised forms part of the carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal of that impairm
recognised in accordance with Ind AS 36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of the investment subsequently increases. ,\?x“
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The Company discontinues the use of the equity method from the date when the investment ceases to be an associate or a joint venture, or when
the investment is classified as held for sale. When the Company retains an interest in the former associate or joint venture and the retained
interest is a financial asset, the Company measures the retained interest at fair value at that date and the fair value is regarded as its fair value on
initial recognition in accordance with Ind AS 109. The difference between the carrying amount of Lhe associate or joint venture at the date the
equity method was discontinued, and the fair value of any retained inferest and any proceeds from disposing of a part interest in the associate or
joint venture is included in the determination of the gain or loss on disposal of the associate or joint venture. In addition, the Company accounts
for all amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to that associate or joint venture on the same basis as would be
required if that associale or joint venture had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss previously
recognised in other comprehensive income by that associate or joint venture would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related
assets or liahilities, the Company reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to profit or loss (as a reclassification adjustment) when the equity
method is discontinued.

The Comipany continues to use the equity method when an investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint venture or an investment
in a joint venture becomes an investment in an associate, There is no remeasurement to fair value upon such changes in ownership interests.

When the Company reduces its ownership interest in an associate or a joint venture but the Company continues to use the equity method, the
Company reclassifies to profit or loss the proportion of the gain or loss thal had previously been recognised in other comprehensive income
relating to that reduction in ownership inferest if that gain or loss would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets or
liabilities.

When a Company entity transacts with an associate or a joint venture of the Company, profits and losses resulting from the transactions with the
associate or joint venture are recognised in the Company’s Standalone financial statements only to the extent of interests in the associate or joint
venture that are not related to the Company. :

Investment in Subsidiary
Investment in subsidiary are measured at cost less impairment if any.
Revenue recognition

Rendering of services
Healthcare Services

Revenue primarily comprises fees charged for inpatient and outpatient hospilal services. Services include charges for accommadation,

theatre, medical professional services, equipment, radiology, laboratory and pharmaceutical goods used. Revenue is recorded and recognised
during the period in which the hospital service is provided, based upon the estimated amounts due from patients and/or medical funding entities.
Unbilled revenue Is recorded for the service where the patients are not discharged and invoice is not raised for the service.

The company earns revenue primarily from medical services.

The services rendered by the entity is in single geographical location with one type of service, mainly rendering medical services with a single
type of customer who is normally referred to as a patient with defined coniract duration, subject to severe exigencies unknown at the time of
admission of the patient and involves only one type of sales channel which is hospital services directly to the patient.

the company has adopted output method which recognize revenue on the basis of direct measurements of the value to the customer on the basis
of goods or services transferred to date, relalive to the remaining goods or services promised under the contract. The scrvice revenues are
presented net of related doctor fees in cases where the company is not the primary obligor and does not have the pricing latitude.

Sale of Goods

Pharmacy Sales are recognised when the risk and reward of ownership is passed to the customer. Revenue is measured at the fair value of the
consideration received or receivable, taking into account contractually defined terms of payment and excluding taxes or dulies collected on
behalf of the government. Revenue is reduced for rebates and loyalty points granted upon purchase and are stated net of returns and discounts
wherever applicable

Dividend and interest income

Interest income from a financial asset is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Company and the amount of
income can be measured reliably, Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective interest
rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated fuiure cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to that
assel's net carrying amount on inifial recognition.

Rental income

The Company's policy for recognition of revenue from operating leases is described in note 3.5.5 below.

Leasing

Leases are clussified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee.
All other leases are classified as operating leases.

The Company as lessor

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recognised as receivables at the amount of the Company's net investment in the leases.
Finance lease income is allocated to accounting periods so as to reflect a constant periodic rate of retum on the Company's net investment
outstanding in respect of the leases.
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Rental income from operating leases is generally recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Wheie the rentals are
structured solely to increase in line with expected general inflation to compensate for the Company’s expected inflationary cost increases, such
increases are recognised in the year in which such benefits accrue. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are
added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Foreign currencies .

In preparing the financial staiements of each individual Company entity, transactions in currencies other than the entity’s functional currency
(foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchange prevailing at the dates of the transactions. At the end of each reporting period,
monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retransiated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value
that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at the date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary
items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign curtency are not retranslated Exchange differences on monetary items are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise except for:

= exchange differences on foreign currency borrowings relating to assets under construction for future productive use, which are included in the
cost of those assets when they are regarded as an adjustment to interest costs on those foreign currency borrowings;

» exchange differences on monetary items receivable from or payable to a foreign operation for which settlement is neither planned nor likely to
occur (therefore forming part of the net investment in the foreign operation), which are recognised inilially in other comprehensive income and
reclassified from equity to profit or loss on repayment of the monetary items.

Borrowings and Borrowing costs

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently stated at amortised cost. Any
difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption value is recognised in the income statement over the period of the
borrowings using the effective interest rate method. Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Company has an unconditional
right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting date.

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take a
substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Interest income eamed on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their expendilure on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

Government grants
Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable assurance that the Company will comply with the conditions attaching to them

and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic basis over the periods in which the Company recognises as expenses the
related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate. Specifically, government grants whose primary condition is that the Company
should purchase, construct or otherwise acquire non-current assets are recognised as deferred revenue in the Standalone balance sheel and
transferred to profit or loss on a systematic and rational basis over the useful lives of the related assets.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving immediate financial
support to the Company with no future related costs are recognised in prolit or loss in the period in which they become receivable.

The benefit of a government loan at a below-market rate of inlerest is treated as a government grant, measured as the difference between
procecds received and the fair value of the loan based on prevailing market interest rates.

Employee benefits

Retirement benefit costs and termination benefits
Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans are recognised as an expense when employees have rendered service entitling thém to

the contributions.

For defined benefit retirement benefit plans, the cost of providing benefits is determined using the projected unit credit method, with actuarial
valuations being carried out at the end of each annual reporting period. Remeasurement, comprising actuarial gains and losses, the effect of the
changes to the asset ceiling (if applicable) and the return on plan assets (excluding net interest), is reflected immediately in the balance sheet
with a charge or credit recognised in other comprehensive income in the period in which they occur. Remeasurement recognised in other
comprehensive income is reflected immediately in retained eamings and is not reclassified to profit or loss. Past service cost is recognised in
profit or loss in the period of a plan amendment. Net interest is calculated by applying the discount rate at the beginning of the period to the net
defined benefit liability or asset. Defined benefit costs are categorised as follows:

» service cost (including current service cost, past service cost, as well as gains and losses on curtailments and settlements);

* net interest expense or income; and

* remeasurement

The Company presents the first two components of defined benefit costs in profit or loss in the line item ‘Employee benefits expense’,
Curtailment gains and losses are accounted for as past service costs.

The retirement benefit obligation recognised in the Standalone balance sheet represents the actual deficit or surplus in the Company's defined
benefit plans, Any surplus resulting from this calculation is limited to the present value of any economic benefits available in the form of refunds
from the plans or reductions in future contributions to the plans.

A liability for a termination benefit is recognised at the earlier of when the entity can no longer withdraw the offer of the termination benefit and
when the entity recognises any related restructuring costs.
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Short-term and other long-term employee benefits
A liahility is recognised for benefits accruing to employees in respect of wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave in the period the related

service is rendered at the undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid in exchange for that service.
Liabilities recognised in respect of short-term employee benefits are measured at the undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid in
exchange for the related service.

Liabilities recognised in respect of other long-term employee benefils are measured at the present value of the estimated future cash outflows
expected to be made by the Company in respect of services provided by employees up to the reporting date.

Contributions from employees or third parties to defined benefit plans

Discretionary contributions made by employees or third parties reduce service cost upon payment of these contributions to the plan.

When the formal terms of the plans specify that there will be contributions from employees or third parties, the accounting depends on whether
the contributions are linked to service, as follows:

- If the contributions are not linked to services (e.g. contributions are required to reduce a deficit arising from losses on plan assets or from
actuarial losses), they are reflected in the remeasurement of the net defined benefit liability (asset).

- If contributions are linked to services, they reduce service costs. For the amount of contribution that is dependent on the number of years of
service, the Company reduces service cost by attributing the contributions to periods of service using the altribution method required by Ind AS
19 for the gross benefits. For the amount of contribution that is independent of the number of years of service, the Company reduces service cost
in the period in which the related service is rendered / reduces service cost by attributing contributions to the employees’ periods of service in
accordance with Ind AS 19

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

Current tax
The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from “profit before tax” as reported in the Standalone

statement of profit and loss because of items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and items that are never taxable
or deductible. The Company’s current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.

Deferred tax
Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the Standalone financial statements

and the corresponding tax bases used in the compulation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, Deferred tax assels are generally recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profits will be available against which those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are
not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of assets and liabilities in a
transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit. In addition, deferred tax liahilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from the initial recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and associates, and interests
in joint ventures, except where the Company is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foresceable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences associated with such
investments and interests are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise
the benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the foresecable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assels is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled or the asset
realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Company

Current and deferred tax for the year
Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except when they relate to items that are recognised in other comprehensive income or

directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity
respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is included in the
accounting for the business combination.

Property, plant and equipment

Land and buildings mainly comprise hospitals and offices. Land and buildings held for use in the production or supply of goods or services, or
for administrative purposes, are stated in the Standalone balance sheet at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.
Frechold land is not depreciated.

Fixtures, plant and medical equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. All repairs and
maintenance costs are charged to the income statement during the financial period in which they are incurred

Properties in the course of construction for production, supply or administralive purposes are carried at cost, less any recognised impairment
loss. Cost includes professional fees and, for qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised in accordance with the Company’s accounting policy.
Such properties are classified to the appropriate categories of property, plant and equipment when completed and ready for intended use.
Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as other property assets, commences when the assets are ready for their intended use,
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Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assels (other than freehold land and properties under construction) less their residual
values over their useful lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at
the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospeclive basis.

Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over their expected useful lives on the same basis as owned assets. However, when there is no
reasonahle certainty that ownership will be obtained by the end of the lease term, assets are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and
their useful lives.

Estimated useful lives of the assels are as follows:

Buildings (Freehold) 60 years
Plant and Medical Equipment 7-13 years
Surgical Instruments 3 years
Office Equipment - Others 5 years
Office Equipment - Camputers 3 years
Vehicles 6 years

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise from the
continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipnient is determined as the
difference between the sales procesds and the carrving amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

For transition to Ind AS, the company has continued with the carrying value of all of its property, plant and equipment recognised as of April 1,
2015 (transition date) measured as per the previous GAAP and use thal carrying value as its deemed cost as of the transition date.

Accordingly, certain pre-operative costs have been charged off upon transition.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired Standalonely
Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired Standalonely are carried at cost less acoumulated amortisation and accumulated

impairment losses. Amortisation is recognised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. The estimated useful life and
amartisation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate being accounted for on a
prospective basis. Intangible asscts with indefinite useful lives that are acquired Standalonely are carried at cost less accumulated impairment
losses,

Derecognition of intangible assets
An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no future economic benefits are expected from use or disposal. Gains or losses arising

from derecognition of an intangible asset, measured as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, are
recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.

Useful lives of intangible assets

Estimated useful lives of the intangible assets are as follows:

In the case of special software developed, the company has a policy of defining capitalization based on period of rests. The company is adopting
a policy to amortize such capitalization in three years.

Computer Software 3 years

Impairment of tangible and intangible assets other than goodwill
At the end of each reporting period, the Company reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to determine whether there

is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is
estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an
individual asset, the Company estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. When a reasonable and
consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also aliocated to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise they are
allocated to the smallest Company of cash-generaling units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment at least annually, and
whenever there is an indication that the asset may be impaired.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the

risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have not bezn adiusted.
If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset

(or cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount, An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

When an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is increased to the revised estimate
of its recaverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

- e O A
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Inventories
The inventories of all medicines, medicare items traded and dealt with by the Company are valued at cost. In the absence of any further

estimated costs of completion and estimated costs necessary to make the sale, the Net Realisable Value is not applicable. Cost of these
inventories comprises of all costs of purchase and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location after adjusting for
GST wherever applicable, applying the FIFO method.

Stock of provisions, stores (including lab materials and other consumables), stationaries and housckecping items are staled at cost. The net
realisable value is not applicable in the absence of any further modification/alteration before being consumed in-house only. Cost of these
inventories comprises of all costs of purchase and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location, after adjusting for
GST wherever applicable applying FIFO method.

Linen, crockery and cutlery are valued at cost and written off applying FIFO method. The net realisable value is not applicable in the absence of
any further modification/alteration before being consumed in-house. Cost of these inventories comprises of all costs of purchase and other costs
incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Company has a present obligation (legal or construclive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that the
Company will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting
period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated
to setile the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows (when the effect of the time value of money is
material).

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, a receivable is
recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.

Other Provisions
Other provisions (including third-party payments for malpractice claims) which are not covered by insurance and other costs for legal claims are

recognised based on legal opinions and management judgment.

Financial instruments )
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a Company entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instruments.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or
issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (ather than financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are added
to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or
loss.

Financial assets
All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised on [air value basis. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame established by regulation or convention in the

marketplace.
All recognised financial assets are subsequently measured in their entirety at either amortised cost or fair value, depending on the classification

of the financial assets

Classification of financial assets
Debt instruments that meet the following conditions are subsequently measured at amortised cost (except for debt instruments that are

designated as at fair value through profit or loss on initial recognition):

the asset is held within a business model whose ohjective is to hold assets in order to collect contractual cash flows; and

the contractual terms of the instrument give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount oulstanding.
For the impairment policy on financial assets measured at amortised cost, refer Note 3.22.5
Debt instruments that meet the following conditions are subsequently measured at fair value through other comprehensive income (except for
debt instruments that are designated as at fair value through profit or loss on initial recognition):
+  the asset is held within a business model whose objective is achieved both by collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial assets;
+ the contractual terms of the instrument give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and inferest on the

principal amount outstanding,

Interest income is recognised in profit or loss for FVTOCI debt instruments. For the purposes of recognising foreign exchange gains and losses,
EVTOCI debt instruments are treated as financial assets measured at amortised cost. Thus, the exchange differences on the amortised cost are
recognised in profit or loss and other changes in the fair vaiue of FVTOCI financial assets are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated under the heading of ‘Reserve for debt instruments through other comprehensive income’. When the investment is disposed of, the
cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in this reserve is reclassified to profit or loss.
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The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating interest income over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts (including all fees and points paid or
received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of

the debt instrument, or. where appropriale. a shorter period, to the net carrving amount on initial recognition.
Income is recognised on an effective interest basis for debt instruments other than those financial assets classified as at FVTPL. Inlerest income

Impairment of financial assets
The Company applies the expected credit loss model for recognising impairment loss on financial assets measured at amortised cost, debt

instruments at FVTOCI, lease receivables, trade receivables, other contractual rights to receive cash or other financial asset, and financial
guarantees not designated as at FVTPL.

Expected credit losses are the weighted average of credit losses with the respective risks of default occurring as the weights. Credit loss is the
The Company measures the loss allowance for a financial instrument at an amount equal to the lifetime expected credit losses if the credit risk
on thal financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition. If the credit risk on a financial instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Company measures the loss allowance for that financial instrument at an amount equal to 12-month
expected credit losses. 12-month expected credit losses are portion of the life-time expected credit losses and represent the lifetime cash
shortfalls that will resuit if default occurs within the 12 months afler the reporting date and thus, are not cash shortfalls that are predicted over
the next 12 months,

If the Company measured loss allowance for a financial instrument at lifetime expected credit loss model in the previous period, but determines
at the end of a reporting period that the credit risk has not increased significantly since initial recognition due to improvement in credit quality as
compared to the previous period, the Company again measures the loss allowance based on 12-month expected credit losses.

When making the assessment of whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the Company uses the
change in the risk of a default cccurring over the expected life of the financial instrument instead of the change in the amount of expected credit
losses. To make that assessment, the Company compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting date with
the risk of a default cccurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition and considers reasonahle and supportable
information, that is available without undue cost or effort, that is indicative of significant increases in credit risk since initial recognition.

For trade receivables or any contractual right to receive cash or another financial asset that result from transactions that are within the scope of
Ind AS 11 and Ind AS 18, the Company always measures the loss allowance at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses.

Farther, for the purpose of measuring lifetime expected credit loss allowance for trade receivables, the Company has used a practical expedient
as permitted under Ind AS 109. This expected credit loss allowance is computed based on a provision matrix which takes into account historical
credit loss experience and adjusted for forward-looking information.

The impairment requirements for the recognition and measurement of a loss allowance are equally applied to debt instruments at FVTOCI
except that the loss allowance is recognised in other comprehensive income and is not reduced from the carrying amount in the balance sheet,

Derecognition of financial assets

The Company derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers the financial
asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the assel to another party. If the Company neither transfers nor retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the Company recognises its retained interest in
the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Company retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of a transferred financial asset, the Company continues to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the
proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received
and receivable and the cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity is recognised
in profit or loss if such gain or loss would have otherwise been recognised in profit or loss on disposal of that financial asset.

On derecognition of a financial asset other than in its entirety (e.g. when the Company retains an option to repurchase part of a transferred asset),
the Company allocates the previous carrying amount of the financial asset between the part it continues to recognise under continuing
involvement, and the part it no longer recognises on the basis of the relative fair values of those parts on the date of the transfer, The difference
between the carrying amount allocated to the part that is no longer recognised and the sum of the consideration received for the part no longer
recognised and any cumulative gain or loss allocated to it that had been recognised in other comprehensive income is recognised in profit or loss
if such gain or loss would have otherwise been recognised in profit or loss on disposal of that financial asset. A cumulative gain or loss that had
been recognised in other comprehensive income is allocated between the part thal continues to be recognised and the part that is no longer
recognised on the basis of the relative fair values of those parts,

Foreign exchange gains and losses
The fair value of financial assets denominated in a foreign currency is determined in that foreign currency and translated at the spol rate at the
For foreign currency denominated financial assets measured at amortised cost and FVTPL, the exchange differences are recognised in profit
Changes in the carrying amount of investmenls in equity instruments at FVTOCI relating to changes in foreign currency rates are
For the purposes of recognising foreign exchange gains and losses, FVTOCI debt instruments are treated as financial assets measured at
amortised cost. Thus, the exchange differences on the amortised cost are recognised in profit or loss and other changes in the fair value of
FVTOCI financial assets are recognised in other comprehensive income,
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3.16

3.16.1

3.16.2

3.163

3.16.4

3.16.5

3.16.6

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by a Company entity are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance

of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liabilitv and an eavity instrument. |

Equity instruments
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual iy
Repurchase of the Company's own equity instruments is recog
lass on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Company

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subscquently measured at amortised
However, financial liabilities that arise when a transfer of
involvement approach applies, financial guarantee contracts iss

at below-market interest rate are measured in accordance with the specific accounting policies set out below.

Financial liabilities subsequently measured at amortised co
Financial liabilities that are not held-for-trading and are not de

accounting periods. The carrying amounts of financial liabilitics that are subsequently measured at amortised cost are determined based on the :
effective interest method. Interest expense that is not capilalised as part of costs of an asset is included in the Finance costs' line item. |

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest expense over the |

relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exact]
received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate,

the financial liability, or (where appropriate) a shorter period, to|the net carrying amount on initial recognition,

Foreign exchange gains and losses

For financial liabilities that are denominated in a foreign currency and are measured at amortised cost at the end of each reporting period, the! |
foreign exchange gains and losses are determined based on the gmortised cost of the instruments and are recognised in ‘Other income’,

The fair value of financial liabilities denominated in a foreign

the end of the reporting period. For financial liahilities that are{ measured as at FVTPL, the foreign exchange component forms part of the fair| |

value gains or Iosses and is recognised in profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Company derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
exchange between with a lender of debt instruments with sub
financial liability and the recognition of a new financial liabi
liability (whether or not attributable to the financial difficulty

terest in the assets of an entity afier deducting all of its liabilities. Equity
mised and deducted directly in equity. No gain or loss is recognised in profit or
's own equily instruments.

cost using the effective interest method or at FVTPL.
a financial asset does not qualify for derecognition or when the continuing

hed by the Company, and commitments issued by the Company to provide a loan

st
signaled as at FVTPL are measured at amortised cost at the end of subsequer

T

ly discounts estimated future cash payments (including all fees and points paid mJ5
transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of

currency is determined in that foreign currency and translated at the spot rate at

when, the Company’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or have expired. An
stantially different terms is accounted for as an extinguishment of the ariginal | |
ity. Similarly, a substantial modification of the terms of an existing financial

of the debtor) is accounted for as an extinguishment of the original financial |

liability and the recognition of a new financial liability. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability desecognised and
the consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss|

Ind AS 116 Leases: I
On March 30, 2019, Ministry of Corporate Affairs has notified Ind AS 116, Leases. Ind AS 116 will replace the existing leases Standard, Ind AS|
17 Leases, and related Interpretations. The Standard sets out the principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of [
leases for both parties to a contract i.e., the lesses and the lessor [Ind AS 116 intraduces a single lessee accounting model and requires a lessee to| |
recognize assets and liabilities for all leases with a term of mare than twelve months, unless the underlying asset is of low value. Currently,
operating lease expenses are charged to the statement of Profit & Loss. The Standard also contains enhanced disclosure requirements for lessees,| |
Ind AS 116 substantially carries forward the lessor accounting requirements in Ind AS 17.Until the 31-Mar-2019 financial year-end, leases of ||
property, plant and equipment were classified as either finance nj operaling leases. Payments made under operating leases (net of any incentives | ‘
received from the lessor) were charged to the statement of comprehensive income on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease, .
From April 1, 2019, leases are recognised as a right-of-use assetjand a correspanding liability at the date at which the leased asset is available ‘
for use by the company . Each lease payment is allocated between the liability and finance cost. The finance cost is charged to the statement of ‘
comprehensive income over the lease period so as to produce a copnstant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each! ‘
period. The right-of-use asset is depreciated over the shorter of the asset's useful life and the lease term on a straight-line basis. ‘
Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially mensured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities include the net present value of the
following lease payments: ‘
*fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives receivable i
svariable lease payment that are based on an index or a rate }
\
|
!
!

ramounts expected to be payable by the lesses under residual value guarantees

*the exercise price of a purchass option if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise that option, and
*payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the lesses exercising that option, |
The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be determined, the lessee’s incremental ||
borrowing rate is used, being the rate that the lesses would have to pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar value in a
similar economic environment with similar terms and conditions,
Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the following:
sthe amount of the initial measurement of lease liability
*any lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives received

g
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3.18,

4.1

4.2

4.3

4.5

4.6

4.7

+any initial direct costs, and

srestoration costs.

Payments associated with short-term leases and leases of low-vi
of comprehensive income. Short-term leases are leases with a s
small items of office furniture,

The company has adopied Ind AS 116 retrospectively from April 1, 2019 but has not restated comparatives for the year-ended March 31, 2019, ||
as permitted under the specific transitional provisions in the standard. The reclassifications and the adjustments arising from the new leasing

rules are therefore recognised in the opening balance sheet on A

Recent Indian Accounting Standards (Ind AS)
Ministry of Corporate Affairs ("MCA") notifies new standard o

would have been applicable from April 1, 2020,

Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty

In the application of the Company's accounting policies, whi
Jjudgements, estimates and assumptions aboul the carrying ama
estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical e
differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that pe
current and future periods.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,

that may have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

Useful lives of property, plant and equipment

As described at 3.10 above, the Company reviews the estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment at the end of each reporting period,

During the current year, the directors determined that the usefu
technology.

Fair value measurements and valuation processes

Some of the Company’s ussets and liabilities are measured at fair value for financial reporting purposes. The board of directors of the Conlpanﬁ

has set up a valuation committee, which is headed up by the
techniques and inputs for fair value measurements.

Employee Benefits

The cost of defined benefit plans are determined using actuarial valuations. The actuarial valuation involves making assumptions about discount

rates, expecied rates of return on assets, future salary increases,
plans, such eslimales are subject to significant uncertainty. Furt]

Litigations
The amount recognised as a provision shall be the best estimatel
reporting period

Revenue Recognition

Revenue from fees charged for inpatient and outpatient hospital/clincial services rendered to insured and corporate patients are subject to
approvals for the insurance companies and corporates, Accordingly, the Company estimates the amounts likely to be disallowed by such

companies based on past trends.

Estimations based on past trends are also required in determining the value of consideration from customers to be allocated to award credits for

customers.

Basic Earnings Per Share:
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing;

The profit or loss from the continuing operations attributable to the parent entity,
By the weighted average number of equity shares outstanding during the financial year.

Diluted Earnings Per Share:
Diluted earnings per share is calculated by dividing:

The profit or loss from the continuing operations attributable to the parent entity.
By the weighted average number of equity shares outstanding during the financial year assuming the conversion of all dilutive potential

equity shares.

alue assets are recognised on a straight-line basis as an expense in the stalement
ase term of 12 months or less. Low-value assets comprise IT-equipment and

\pril 1, 2019,

r amendments to the existing standards. There is no such notification which

ch are described in note 3, the directors of the Company are required to mak
unts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Th
xperience and other factors that are considered to be relevant, Actual results ma

L < S—

ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period
riod, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects bo

S —

and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting periq

—

lives of certain items of equipment should be shortened, due to developments m

Chief Financial Officer of the Company, to determine the appropriate valuation

maortality rates and future pension increases. Due to the long-term nature of thes
her details are given in note 32

—

of the expenditure required to seftle the present obligation arising at the

A e
-t e i
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4.8  Current and Non Current Classification

The Company presents assets and liabilities in the balance she
An asset is treated as current when it is:
Expected to be realised or intended to be sold or consumed

:t based on current/ non-current classification.

in normal operating cycle

Expected to be realised within twelve months afier the reporting period, or

Cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from being exchan

period
All other assets are classified as non-current,
A liability is current when:
It is expected to be settled in normal operating cycle
Tt is due to be setiled within twelve months after the reporti

ged or used to settle a liability for at least twelve months afler the reporting

ng period, or

There is no unconditional right to defer the seftlement of the liahility for at least twelve months after the reporting period

The Company classifies all other liabilities as non-current,
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are classified as non-current

The operaling cycle is the time between the acquisition of assets for processing and their realisation in cash and cash equivalents. The Company'

has identified twelve months as its operating cycle.

4.9 Cash and cash equivalent

Cash and cash equivalent in the balance sheet comprise cash at

assets and liabilities.

banks and on hand and short-term deposits with an original maturity of three

maonths or less, which are subject to an insignificant risk of chapges in value,
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Apollo Hospitals International Limited
Notes to the Standalone financial statements for the period ended March 31, 2025
All amounts are in Indian Rupees unless otherwise stated
. Right to Use of Asset - Lease Assets
As at As at
31-Mar-25 31-Mar-24

Carrying amounts of Right to use of Assel,
Land 47,259)388 47,917,096
Buildings 27,071)119 38,978,624
Plant and Machinery .14 1,000,336

74,330,507 87,896,056
Right to Use of Asset - Lease Liabilities

As at As at

31-M3r-25 31-Mar-24

Carrying amounts of Right to use of Asset:
Land - -
Buildings 33,04A1502 46,003,799
Plant and Machinery - 1,403 A0R

33,946)502 47,407,407

Description of Assets Land Buildings Plant and Machinery Total
Cost
Balance as at 01 April, 2023 '50,072,000 11,809,000 17,090,000 78,971,000
Addition on Acquisition - 148,822,000 - 148,822 000
Additions - - - -
Dispasals - (5,206,462) - (5,206,462)
Balance as at 31 March, 2024 50,072,000 155,424,538 17,090,000 222,586,538
Cost
Balance as at 01 April, 2024 50,072,000 155,424,538 17,090,000 222,586,538
Addition on Acquisition - - - -
Additions - 2,068 804 - 2,068 804
Dispuosals - - - -
Balance as at 31 March, 2025 50,072,000 157,493,342 17,090,000 224,655,342
Accumulated depreciation as on 01 April, 2023 1,497,196 7,581,029 12,667,880 21,746,105
Accumulated depreciation on Acquisition - 94 815217 - 94,815,217
Depreciation 657,708 1,391,183 3,421,709 5,470,600
Depreciation on deletion - 12,658,485 75 12,658 560
Balance as at 31 March, 2024 2,154,904 116,445,914 16,089,664 134,690,482
Accumulated deprecialion as on 01 April, 2024 2,154,904 116,445,914 16,089,664 134,690,482
Accumulated depreciation on Acquisition - - = e
Depreciation 657,708 13,527,851 1,000,336 15,185,895
Depreciation on deletion - 448 458 - 448,458
Balance as at 31 March, 2025 2,812,612 130,422,223 17,090,000 150,324,835
Lease Liability Land Buildings Plant and Machinery Total
Balance as at 01 April, 2023 - 73,919,181 5,303,273 79,222,454
Addition on acquisition - - - -
Additions - - - -
Disposals - (22,566,735) - (22,566,735)
Balance as at 31 March, 2024 - 51,352,446 5,303,273 56,655,719
Interest and Lease Rent
Inicrest - 2,640,745 318335 2,959,080
Lease rent - (7,989,392) (4,218,000) (12,207,392)
Balance as at 31 March, 2024 - 46,003,799 1,403,608 47,407,407
Balance as at 01 April, 2024 - 46,003,799 1,403,608 47,407,407
Additions - 2,068 804 - 2,068 804
Disposals - - - -
Balance as at 31 March, 2025 - 48,072,603 1,403,608 49,476,211
Interest and Lease Rent
Tnterest i 3,575,065 2,392 3,577,457
Lease rent - (17,701,167) (1,406,000) (19,107,167)
Balance as at 31 March, 2025 - 33,946,502 - 33,946,502
L/
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Apollo Hospitals International Limited '
Notes to the Standalone financial statements for the period ended March 31, 2025 |
All amounts are in Indian Rupecs unless otherwise stated |
6 Intangible Assets
i
6.1 Other intangible Assets i
As at As|at |
31-Mar-25 31-Man24 | |
(¢) Goodwill 273,649,693 273,649,693
(d) Other Intangible assets 2,038,050 2.6 :0,1.3‘0
275,687,743 276,219,823
|
|
|
Particular Goodwill Computer Software Total |
Cost |
Balance as at 01 April, 2023 - 28,735,345 28, 73;5,345 ;
Additions from Standalone acquisitions - 625,540 615,540 ‘
Additions through business combination 273,649,693 4,247,608 27 7,8&?;7,3( 1 !
Additions from internal developments « - Lol
Disposals or classified as held for sale 4 (2,572,640) @, s*riz,ﬁq 0)
Others (describe) - - [ =]l
Balance as at 31 March, 2024 273,649,693 31,035,853 304, 518;5,54 6
Balance as at 01 April, 2024 273,649,693 31,035,853 304,86 {5,54ﬂ
Additions from Standalone acquisitions - - i
Additions through business combination - - | -
Additions from internal developments - - 4
Disposals or classified as held for sale - (18,908) (18,908
Others (describe) - - | -‘ |
Balance as at 31 March, 2025 273,649,693 31,016,945 304,66;6,638 |
II. Accumulated depreciation and impairment = ;
Balance as at 01 April, 2023 . 28,208,171 28,2 ]:8,1"(1 1
Amortisation expense for the year - 197,552 197,552,
Disposals or classified as held for sale . - LA
Impairment losses recognised / (Reversed) in Statement of Profit - - |1
and Loss :
Reversals of impairment losses recognised in profit or lpss - - !
Others [describe] - - | = |l
Balance as at 31 March, 2024 - 28,405,723 28,43@5,7 23,
- |
Balance as at 01 April, 2024 - 28,405,723 28, I5,7 23,
Amortisation expense for the year - 158,707 38,707
Disposals or classified as held for sale - - A
Impairment losses recognised / (Reversed) in Statement of Profit - - ! -
and Loss |
Reversals of impairment losses recognised in prefit or loss - - i ol
Others - Reclassification - 414,465 414,465
Balance as at 31 March, 2025 - 28,978,895 28/978,8 9fij
Lt |
AT AN
N LT \"T )\
ot N
00 1[5
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Apollo Hospitals International Limifed
Nutes to the Standalone financial stutemenis for the period ended March 31, 2025

All amounts are in Indian Rupses unless otherwise stated

7 Investmenis in subsidivries &associates

7.1 Break-up of i in subsidiaries & associaies
Particolar As at Mar 31, 2025 As at Mar 31, 2024
oTY Amounis* QTY Amounts*

Quoted Investmenis (all fully paid)
Investments in Equity Instrumenis. - . - M
Total Aggregate Quoied Investments (A) - - - =
Unguoted Investments (all fully paid)

Apaollo CVHF Limited 1,000 00 25,12 46,800 1,00,00,000 25,1246 300
Total Aggregate Unguoted Investments (B) 1,00j00 000 2512 46 &0 1,000 00 (000 25,12 44 R0D
Total Investmenis Carrying Value (A) + (B) 1,00j00 00 25,12 46 ROD 1,00,00 000 25,12 46 &00
Aggregste book value of quoted investments » .
Aggrogste markst value of quoted investments - =
Aggregsie carrying value of tnquoted investments - -
Aggregate amount of impai in velue of i in fat - =

7.2 Detuils of muterial associates and Subsidary
Dotuily of sach of the Company's musterial sssocistes at the end of the reporting perisd arc as follows:

Name of associale Principal Activity Place of Proportion of owacrship interest / voling
Incorporation and rights held by the Campsay
principal place of
As at Asat
31-Mar-25 31-Mar-24
Apoilo CVHF Limited Healthcare Ahmedabad 66.7% 66.7%
7.3 Summarised financial information of muterial associstes and Svbsidary
Summarised financial information in respect of sach of the Comoany's material sssocistes is sot out below.
The ised financial information below rep amounts shown in the inle's Financial prepared in dance with Ind ASs adjusted by the
Company for equity secounting purposes,
Asat Asat
As at Asat
Apollyp CVHF Limited 31-Mar-25 31-Mar-24
Non-current assels 40,55 44 621 60 44,4743 22200
Current assets 6,55,16,850 63 £,40,79,571.00
‘Non-current liabilities 42,18 S2.RR3.46 45 %A 63 R12.00
Current linbilities 17,11,83 207.77 16,5371, 039 00
Asat Asat
31-Mar-25 31-Mar-24
Revenue 34,39,66,903.21 32,57,16,970.00
Profit ar lost from continuing operations (53,31,425 59) (1,21,85,231 o)
Post-tax profil (losr) from disconfinued operations - -
Profil (luss) for the year (53,31,425.69) (1,21,85,231 00)
Other comprehensive income for the year (3,36,675 00) 23 41800
Total comprehensive income for the year (56,68,100.69) (1,21,01,813.00)

Dividends roceived from the sssociate during the year

Note:

i, We draw sitention to Note 40 in the standslone financial sistessents, which describes the Regional Direcior, Soathern Region Order Sec 233/AB242156%/RD, Chenoai deted 25-04-2015
confirming the merger of Apolln Amrish-Oncology Services Private Limited (A ADSPL) with Apollo Hospitals International Limited (AHIL) with an appoinied date of 1 April 2024,

ii. Apollo CVFH Limited (subsidiary of AHIL), is no where related to merger, considered Separsisly.

O —




8 Trade receivables

]

Apollo Hospitals International Limited

Notes to the Siundalone fingocial statemenis for the perivd ended March 31, 2025

All arounts are in Indian Rupees unless otherwise staed

31-Mar-25 31-Mar-24
Non Current Current Non Current Curreat
Trade receivables
Secured, considered grod - - - =
Unsecared, comsidered good - 433,517,539 - 508,544,288
Unsecured, considered doubiful i - = =
Secured, considered doubiful - - -
Allowance for doohiful debts (expected credit losz allowance) - (42,201 415) = (50 470 435)
Allowance for disallowances (sxpected cradit loss allowance) - (22,369,139) - (20,384 S65)
= 367,245,784 - 437,470,286

i. Confirmations of balances from Debiors, Creditors are yet to be received though the Company has sent letiers / mails of confirmation to TPA & Insurance parties. The

balances adapled are as appesring in the books of secounts of the Company.

if. Sundry Debiars represent the debt outsianding on sale of pharmscsutical products
holds no other securiiies other than the perscnal security of the debiurs,

i, Ad and depesits the 2d

hospital services and project consuliancy foes and is comsidered good. The Company

recovernble in cash or in kind or for value to be realised. The amcumnts of these advances and deposiis are considered

good for which the Company holds no security other than the personal security of the dehiors.

Trade receivables
Mujority of the Company's transactions are carned in cash or cash equivalents.
Corparate cusiomers and Government Undertakings. The entity's exposure to credit

The aversee credit perind on sales of services is 30-60 davz from the datc of the invas

The Company has used a practical expedient by compuiing the expected credit
confumation is obiained [rom Tanzania Government confirming the Receivahle
experience and ie sdjusted for forward loaking information. The sxpecied credit loss
given in the provision matrix. The provision matrix at the znd of the repurting period

No single customer represenis 10%% or mare of the company's tolsd reverme during thy
conceniration risk is limited dus to the large and unrelated cistomer base,

[The trade receivables comprise muinly of receivables from Insarance Companics,
risk in relation to trade receivables is low.

ce,

oss allowance for receivables excluding Group Company and Tanzania. A direct
pmount outstanding. The provision matrix tskes into sccount historical credit loss
allowance is based on the ageing of the days the receivablos are due and the rates as
ic as folows:

£ year ended March 31, 2025 and March 31, 2024, Therefore the cusiomer

Eapecied Credit loss (%)
Ageing Asat
31-Mar-25

Less than 6 monihs pasl due 0.00%
6 months to 12 moaths pest due 12.40%
1 to 2 years past due 30 00
2 to 3 years yoars past due 50 0095
>3 years past due 100 6095
Year ended Year ended
Mosgment in the sxpected credit loss allowance 31-Mar.25 31-Mar-24
Balance at beginning of the year (71,074,002) (32,566,579)

Movement in expectod credit loss allowance on trade receivahles

55022 3
caliulatod ot 1o eepacted crodit losses e AR !
Balance at end of the year (65,571,785) (71,074,002)
The concentration of credit risk is limiied due to the fact thal the customer base is large and unrelated,
‘Trade Reccivahles Ageing Schedole
As at March 31, 2025
" Less thyn 6 1-2 Years 1-3 Years More than 3 Total ||||
Fasticuan Months |6 Monihs to 1 Year Years ' I
Undispuied Trade Receivahles
(i) Considered Grood 209,309,604 52,856,991 48,160,168 18,118,639 15,082,138 | 433517500
(if) Dispuied Trade roceivables
Total 299,309 604 51,886,991 48,160,168 18,118 639 15,052,138 431,511.%__
Less: Alluwance for Doubtful Debts (15,315,136) (8,501 064) (19,102,192) (6271460 (16381.902)  (RS.571785)
Net trade receivables 284,014 468 44355927 29057976 11,847,176 (1320 7a4)| 3679457
As at March 31, 2024
I Less thin 6 1-2 Years 2.3 Years More than 3 Total l
Mounibs 6 Munths to 1 Year| Years
Undispuied Trade Receivahles
(1) Considered Good 326,847 303 94,016 032 59,668 411 26,067 465 1,944,583 5085442
(1) Disputed Trade receivahles |
|
Total 326,807 30% 94,016,022 50,668,411 26,057 465 1,944,583 | 508,544 288
Less: Allgwance for Doubiful Dehis (11,619,170) (15,965 09T) (21,006 491) (17,3659.413) {5,112.237) (71,074 gﬂgl
Net trade receivables 315224 638 78,040 028 3R 861920 8,698 052 (3,168.249)| 437,470
Other Finsocial Assets Non Cugrent Current Non Current Current
Securify deposits 19,848 363 - 18,595 663 -
Operating lease receivable - - . -
Unbilled Receivablos 47,699,494 53,137 460
Other Receivables 8,104,514 11,189,163
Gramity Assets / (Liahilities) (2,852 641) 10417247
19,848 363 52,081 3587 18,500 663 74,643 870
Nuote:

The company funded ite graivity linhiity (Defined benafit ohligation) with LIC, Gry

ity Tiahility is netied off with the plan ssset (LIC Fund) and net position of defivi is presenicd in the FS,

(@) £
e R TR 3l




Apallo Hospitals Tnternstional Limited

Notes to the Standulone financial statements for the perind ended March 31, 30258

All amounts arc in Indian Rupess unlosy ofherwise sisted

10 Inventories

a) Inveniories (Jower of cost and not realisshle value)

OP Medicines

Lab maierials, Medicing & Other Cansumahles

11 Cash and cash equivalents

11.1 For the purpeses of the Standaione staiement of cash Mlows, cash and cash squivalen
reporting period ag shown in the Standalone stsement of cash Noses can be recancils

Cheques, drafls on hand & secrow alc,
Cash on hand

Current Ascount

Foreign Currency in band

Cash and cask squivalents as per balance sheet
Cash and bank balances included in a disposal Comparny held for sale
Cash and cash equivalents as per Standalone statement of cash fluws

11.2 Bank bulunces other than (note no. 11.1) shove

Balances with Banks

Earmarked bulances with banks {unpaid dividend)
Earmarked balances with banks (Others)
Balances with banks to the exieni held as margin monsy

Other bank balances
12 Other Asseis
Prepaid Expenses

Other Advances & Current Assets
Receivable from Nursing Students

13 Current Tax Asseis (Net)

TDS Receivable
Less : Provision for Tax
TOTAL

As at Asat
31-Mar-25 31-Mar-24
9397846 11826 737
673,18 513 6,23 46,720
76716350 741,72 456

its inclnde cash on hand and in banks. Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the
ed 10 the related items in the Standalons balance sheet 25 follows:

Asat Asat
31-Mar-25 31-Mar-24
5143985 35,78 885
11,21,70,220 7,41,95,063
117314205 77773748
11,73,14,205 7,77,73,748
Asat Asat
31-Mar-25 31-Mar-24
32,51,90,718 §3,06,30,414
31,51,90,718 53,06 30 414
31-Mar-25 31-Mar-24
Non Cuirent Current Non Current Current
. 3410819277 - 487 34,675 33
i 4,49.26,185.17 = 10,27,78,161.43
= 7,90,34,377.94 - 15,1562 .836.76
Asat As at
31-Mar-25 31-Mar-24
17,18,74,693 97 16,08 95 873 22

(5,65 62 363 06)

(8,00 43 660 15)

10,53.05,230.91

7.99,47,213.07




Apollo Hospitals International Limited

Nofes to the Standalone financial statements for the period ended March 31, 2025

All amounts are in Indian Rupees unless otherwise stated

1

s

Equity Share Capital

Equity share capital

Authorised Share capital :

11,27,50,000 Equity Shares of Rs. 10/- each

11,27,50,000 Equity Shares of Rs. 10/- each (Previous Year)
11,25,000 Preference Shares of Rs.100/- each (Previous Year)

Issued and subscribed capital comprises:
10,06,03 068 Equity shares of Rs.10/- each fully paid up
10,06,03 068 Equity shares of Rs.10/- each fully paid up (Previous Year)

14.1 Fully paid equity shares

Balance at March 31, 2023
Shares Issued during the year
Balance at March 31, 2024
Shares Issued during the periad
Balance at Mar 31, 2025

As at
31 March 2025

As at
31 March 2024

1,127,500,000 1,127,500 000
112,500,000 112,500,000
1,240 000 600 1,240,000 000

1,006,030,680

1,006,030 680

1,006,030 680

1,006,030 680

Number of shares Share capital
(Amount)
100,603 068 1,006,030 680
100,603 048 1,006,030 680

100,603,048

1,006 030 680

Fully paid equity shares, which have a par value of Rs.10, carry ane vote per share and carry a right to dividends.

The fair value of shares issued for consulting services was determined by reference to the market rate for similar consulting services.

The shares bought back in the current year were cancelled immediately.

14.2 Details of shares held by the holding company, its subsidiaries and associates

Particulars

As at Mar 31, 2025

Apollo Hospitals Enterprise Ltd & its nominees
Subsidiaries of the holding company
Associates of the holding company

As at March 31, 2024

Apnllo Hospitals Enterprise Ltd & its nominees
Sulisidiaries of the holding company
Associates of the holding company

4.2 Details of shares held by each shareholder holding more than 5% shares
Number of Shares held

Number of shares

50,301,531

50,301,531

% holding of

7 Number of Shares held
equity shares

Share capital

503,015,310

503015310

% holding of equity shares

Fully paid equity shares

Apollo Hospitals Enterprise Ltd & its
AOMInees

IRM Trust & its nominces

50,301,531

50,301,531

50% 50,301,531

14.4 Details of Promotors shareholding held by more than 5% shares and change in shareholding during the year

As at Mar 31, 2025
Number of Shares held % holding of % Change during the year
equity shares
Fully paid Equity shares
Apollo Hospitals Enterprise Ltd & its 50,301,531 50% 0%
NOminees
IRM Trusl & its nominees 50,301,531 50% 0%
Total 100,603,062 100% 0%
As at Mar 31, 2024
Number of Shares held % holding of % Change during the year
equity shares
Fully paid Equity shares
Apollo Hospitals Enterprise Ltd & its 50,301,531 50% 0%
nominees
IRM Trust & its nominees 50,301,531 50% 0%
Total 100,603,062 100% 0%

50%

wn

=
D
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15 Other equity

Sccurities premium reserve
Retained eamings

Other Comprehensive Income
Capital Redemption Reserve
Ind AS Transition Reserve

15.1 Securities premium reserve

Balance at beginning of year (Securilies premium reserve)

Balance at end of year

15.2 Retained earnings

Balance at beginning of year

Profit attributable to owners of the Company

Dividend
MAT writien back
Less: Capital Redemption Reserve

impas;l on account of Transition to Ind AS 116

Balance at end of year
15.3 Other Comprehensive Income
Balance at beginning of year

Movement in OCI(Net) during the year
Balance at end of year

15.

S

Capital Redemption Reserve

Balance at beginning of year
Add: Transfer from Retained Earnings
Balance at end of year

,..
:J'l
in

Capital Management

The Company's practice is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain investor,
of the business. Management monitors the return on capital, The board of directors seq

(100,603 062)

As at As at
Note 31-Mar-25 31-Mar-24
15.1 429,233,295 429,233,295
152 572,886,707 384,203,901
153 (17,527,875) (11,182,742)
15.4 110,400,000 110,400,000
18,411,817 18,411,817
1,113,403,944 931,066,271
As at As at
31-Mar-25 31-Mar-24
429,233,295 429,233,295
429,223,295 429,233,295
As at As at
31-Mar-25 31-Mar-24
384,203,901 228,340,709
289,285 868 311,666,254

{100,603,062)
(55,200,000)

572 8R6,707 384,203 901
Asat As at
31-Mar-25 31-Mar-24
(11,182,742) (10,069,457)
(6,345,133) (1,113,285)
(17,527,875) (11,182,742)
As at As at
31-Mar-25 31-Mar-24
110,400,000 55,200,000
. 55,200,000

110,400,000

110,400,000

possible with higher levels of barrowing and the advantages and security afforded by @ sound capital position.

15.6 Earnings Per Share

Basic EPS amounts are calculated by dividing the profit for the year attributable to the)

ouistanding during the year.

Profit attributable to the equity holders (basic)
Weighted-average number of equity shares (basic)

Opening Balance
Add: Shares issued during the year

Weighted-average number of equity shares at end of the year
Basic Earnings per Share (originally reported for March 31, 2025)

Diluted Earnings per Share

Profit attributable to the equity holders (diluted)
Weighted-average number of equity shares (diluted)

Diluted Earnings per Share

16 Borrowings

Unsecured - at amortised cost

Curmmulative Redeemable Preference Shares

Secured - at amortised cost
(i) Term loans

from banks (Refer note (vi) below)
(1) Loans repayable on demand

Total

kreditor and market confidence and to sustain future development
k to maintain a balance between the higher returns that might be

owners of the Company by the weighted average number of equity shares

March 31,2025 March 31,2024

289,285 868 311,666,254

100,603,068 100,603,068

100,603 068 100,603 068

2.88 3.10
March 31,2025 March 31,2024

289,285 868 311,666,254

100,603,068 100,603 068

h 2.88 3.10

As at Mar 31. 2025 As at Mar 31, 2024
Non Current Current Non Current Current
13,406,468 - 19,516,412 5
- 32,312,676 - 37,375,541
13,406,468.00 32,312,676 19,516,412.00 37,375,541




18

19

20

As at Mar 31, 2024

17 Other financial liabilities As at Mar 31, 2025

Non Current (urrent Non Current Current
Non-current
a) Inierest accrued - 399,781 - 416,611
b) Current maturities of long-term debts - 6,109,375 - 22,443024
¢) Security Deposils - s 2
d) Dividend Payable - - - -
Total - 6,509,156 - 22,859,635
Provisions _As at Mar 31, 2025 As at Mar 31,2024

Non Current (urrent Non Current Current
Employee benefits 47,828 451 10,129,771 39,184 881 9,473,697
Total 47,828,451 10,129,771 39,184,881 9,473,697
Deferred tax balances Asat As at

31-Mar-25 31-Mar-24
Deferred Tax Assels - -
Deferred Tax Liabilities 37,080,267 44 634 562
MAT Credit Entitlement - -
Total 37,080,267 44,634,562
Trade Payables As at As at
31-Mar-25 31-Mar-24

Trade Payahle-MSME 352,042 2,897,349
Trade payables - Other than MSME 234,505,207 288,772,206
Total 234,857,249 291,669,554
(i) The average credit period on purchases of 30-45 Days 30-45 Days

21

goods ranges from immediate payments to
credit period of days

Trade Payables Ageing Schedule

March 31, 2025

Outstanding for following periods from the transaction date

Particulars

Less than 1 year

1-2 ygars

2-3 years

More than 3 years

Total

Undisputed dues
(i) MSME

(ii) Others
Disputed dues
(i) MSME

(11) Others

352,042
218,523,016

1,206 826

2,228,177

12,457,188

352,042
234,505,207

Total

218,875,058

1,296,826

2,228,177

12,457,188

234,857,249

March 31, 2024

Ontstanding for following periods from the transaction date

Particulars

Less than 1 year

1-2 years

2-3 years

More than 3 years

Total

Undisputed dues
(i) MSME

(it) Others
Disputed dues
(i) MSME

(11) Others

2,897,348
283,563,697

4,991,602

(72,084)

288,991

2,897,348
288772206

Total

286,461,045

4,991,602

(72,084)

288,991

291,669,554

Other current liabilities

{a) Revenue received in advance

(b) Deferred revenue arising from government grant
(c) Amount due to customers

(e) Statutory Dues

(d) Outstanding & Other Expense Payable

(£) Inteunit Balances

(d) Deposits from Nursing Students

Total

(d) Qutstanding Expenses
(b) Other Expense Payable

As at
31-Mar-25

As at
31-Mar-24

38,282,731

27,019,503

300,194,910
(0.00)

47,585,630
14,003,476
508,391,642
000

365,497,144

569,980,748

146,828,193
153,366,717

415,771,237
92,620,405




Apulln Hepitals International Limited
Nates to the Standalone financial statements for the perind ended Murch 31, 2025
All smocoz are in Indisn Rupees unless otherwise staled

|

22 Revenue from Operations i
The fillowitg i€ an anaysis of the Cospany's rovenue for the year from

comiinuing aperstious (escluling other ineoms-see note 23) |

|

Corresponding Year to date for Yeur to date for

24 Cost of materials Convamed

Particulars g BB MOt lhreemanths ended  Currentperiod  Preshusperiod 1 gy onne
- e . =Es 31.03.2024 ended 31.03.2025  ended 31.03 2024 . |
(8} Rewenue from rendering of hesliheare yervives 718,294,130 687,113,306 645, 514368 2757578386 2,542,0i4,130 2,841,014,130
(b Revense From seles at pharmacies 3E 67 487 [EREatve] 40,300,576 189 207 35] 155 854 767 155 154,767 |
(¢} Fras and Calizctions 17,249,380 7,736,301 8,309 085 44,371 308 28 ga 103 28 845 303 1l
(d) Other operuling revenues 19928177 4,511,224 7,537,850 38U 011 26231120 #2100 |
793,557,774 745,381,057 702,723,780 3,030,157,845 2,762,550.220 2,762,950,220 |
23 Other Income |
#) Interest income |
Coarresponiing Yesr to date for Year to date for ‘
Particulsrs s e g threc months ended  Currentperiod  Previousperiad | ogratert 0|
== ) 31.03 2024 ended 31032025 ended 31.03 2004 ) |
Interest on Bank Deposits & Othsers 4,957 FAR §.656.699 10,167,304 24 a1 Al 3171249 ETRAE ] |
4,957 (8% 8,684 599 10,162,804 34,461,601 31,712,692 31,712,652 |
b) Dividend Income
Dividends from equlty Investmenis |
Al dividends fromi equity investsments designated 2z at FVTOCT - - . - . - |
Ar i wrsl e ot the weery ealate tr iecevboets hold ot the snd afsach |
) Other non=operating lncome (net of expenses directly - - - - - 3
attributuble to such fncome)
Finance loase sontingent renial income - - - - - -
Others {uggregate of incmaterial ilema) - - - {158) - "
- - = (156) - =
(dmaibic) 4,987,688 [ 10,162,804 34,661,445 31,712,692 31,713,692
|
[

Thrbe Months  Preceding Three Moathy  Coeipending — Yearfodatefor  Yeartodatefor o . 00 onged

Particalars three months ended  Current period Previoas period

i Sl 31.03.2024 ended JLOT 205 ended 3103 2024 L0303 [
Opening ®ack 70,184,557 64,590,256 57810816 £2,346,720 56,257,412 |1
Add Purchases 215 918 410 213438436 174,031 280 814,104 342 737,337.489 '
295,102,526 280,428 732 233,642,098 876,451 641 753,584,301 793,584,501 |
Lass: Closing stock {37,318,51%) (70.184,357) (62.345,7200) (67318,31%) (A1 244 720} (42 144,720}
Cost of maierialy consumed 218,784,084 210,244,175 171,295,375 £/09,133,149 731,238,181 731.238.181 | |
25 Changes in inventuries of finished goeds, work-in-progress and stuck-in-trade - Phatmacy | 1
" Correspanding Year to date for Year to date for
Particulars m’;m’;’:;s » sl ;Bu_lmnm three months ended  Current period Prevhsos period Pm;\;n:ny;;:n&d
> : 31032024 ended 31032025 enided 31.03.2024 f
"
|
Irrventorias ol the end of the year: (
Stock-in-rade (end of the your) 10385 532 11.835.737 §.357.946 11,826 737 11,826,727
10,36 532 11226737 9,397 846 11 826727 11836737 |
Invemiories at the beginning of the year: |
Stoskein-trade (heginning of the yesr) 10,556 125 9,321,554 11,8337 2,627,921 9,537,521 |
10835 196 8,321 454 11,826 717 anzT sl 5027021
Net (incressc) / decresse 569,455 (2,505,082) 2,418.891 2,798,816) (2,738.815)

26 _Empiuyee benefits exponse

Corresponding Year to date for Year to date for

Particalsrs s g Tt M hree manths ended  Curreatperiod  Previous period P
) ; 31032024 ended 31.03.2025 ended 31.03.2024 }
Saluries and wagee 134253 556 12797315 517,385 414 44§ FR3ATR 448 833 416 |
Conrituatian to provident and other finds 6,348,481 3,052,146 24,700,901 27.996,157 27,996,157 |
Besus 12,72¢ 485 8140731 30,968,777 32,347 394 32,347,854 [ 1]
Staff weifare sxpenses 13,006 8§76 7316101 15,708 546 38,575,557 35341770 38,541 770 | 1l
163,720,205 161,253,622 155,786,958 637,844,649 544,538,537 544,539,537 |
27 _Finunce oty
Correspaniling Year to date for Year to dale for |
Particulars “:';:’;::“;'"t;s P":ﬂ%?g'lm“m’ three pathe ended  Currestperiod  Previous peried P"‘;"I“;;’;;;:“’"‘ |
" 31.03.2024 ended 31,03.2028 ended 31.03 2024 l | |
Coalinuing sperstinng
(&) Toicrest ooats - |
Trierest on bank overdralls and Josns (other than those fom L1z 417 13854m2 1634373 §57192% 6,611,336 6,612,336 |
Telated pation)
Interest on obligations under finesce loases - - - - - - |
Interest on convertibla notss - - - - - - [
Interust on lease lishility 761,220 50065 1070421 3571456 2,985,010 2,955 010
Other inierest expense 483 w47 2,054 357 3,160,655 7,982,577 8,547,517 8,547 617 |
Total intevest expense for financiul lishllities not classified as at
FVIPL |
Less: amounty included in the cost of qualifying ssxets
2,408 383 4313424 6,865 455 17312303 18,114,363 18,114,363 |
(b} Amertized interest cont on redesmable prefmence shares - - - - 3481 840 3,493 640 |
(o) Euchage difforences regerded a8 2z adjustment to borrowing costs - - - - - -
|
(d) Cnber borrwing costs . (
Unwinding of disseunt on costs (o sell non-current assets - - - o - - |

clumsificd as held for sale

2,408 283 4313494 6,865, 455 17,312,323 21,598,612 21,598,612




Apollo Hospitals Internatinnal Limited

Notes to the Standulone financial siutessents for the perind ended March 31, 2025

All smexonts are in Indian Rupees unléss olberwie staled

28 _Deprecistion and amortivation expense

Carrespuniling Year to date for Year to date for
Particalars “2:’;%'3“;"15 P"::“"f;“l';"lm“”" threc manths cndsd  Currentperiod  Previ period T mrat e
= c 31032024 ended 31032025 ended 3103.2004 i
Tieneeciation of omserty. elent end sovinroent pertsining o sontindng 22,733 03 21 444 910 25 080755 87761 438 84,597 739 84.587 729
Amiratinstion on right of uss asset 3,554 181 35MH 4 /28 RS54 15434353 10,715,570 10,715,470
Amrtisation of intangible sscts 85230 50879 15,308 253,512 197352 197,552
Total dep and P ing to g 26,773,264 16,275,762 29,728,517 103 £49,303 95 50,961 85,500,951
anerationy
Deprecistion of property, plint and squipment pertaining o - - - - = .
dingeniiniz! armrations
Total deprecintion and amostisation expense 26,773,264 26,275,762 29,723,517 103,649 303 95,500,361 95,504,961
29 _Other expenics
Correspanding Year to date for Year to date for
Particulars “m';r:‘;’;:;s Procediog Three MOv™ fhree month ended  Curreatperiod  Previvas period o oy el
: & 31.03.2024 ended 31.03.2025 ended 31.03.2024 :
Power and fsel 16,544 463 16,556 491 16,044,342 TIS2817 67,314,754 67,314 754
Water Charges 1,318,688 1,683 308 732,115 5,930,947 2805472 2805472
Rent 3928 548 3756287 1355157 12,089,134 751525 7,514,250
Regusirs to Buildings, Machinzry & Others 13,548 854 10,068 703 48314729 29,004,702 29,004,702
Reepuirs to Madical Equipments 2,874,378 1A E12 18,%43732 101,918,754 10,618,754
Repwiss lo Vehicles 126,565 108,468 500 538 §,565, 204 8,562,204
Anvsl mainisinance Chages 5,574,146 £227218 21,408,702 0,508 376 20,504,336
Inmomsce 1,013218 662,335 733,186 2,992 536 2,558 a6 2,558 M6
Retuiner focs lo Dextors 165 176,125 108 727329 108 741 736 425.151 469 380,032,296 250,032,296
Outsoes Charges % = £ . - &
Fensse Koeyring Expesses 18,491,850 17,781,249 18,470 800 69.122,%4 22,349,101 82,349,301
Food & Bevernges Exponscy 22,251,848 23,044 810 86,510 518 74,2096 874 78396 575
Bio Medical Mainenance 2,508 575 2505872 10,239 745 17,595,749 10,598 749
Secarity Chaeges 7,510,153 83085825 31,802,828 27,474,053 27414053
Ouisorcing Expesses E 772922, £,081177 £081,177
Rosts and Tiwes, exchading leses on ineemne LR6560 1,347,997 972 8,533,505 §,539,608
Otber ogeesting & sdministrative Expenses 11,852,320 £892218 34,343 714 33,801 341 33,201,941
Communication & Telephnc Evpensest 27930m 2305333 8,338,701 6,587 565 £ 582 545
Disswter Sitting Fees 920,400 756,500 2,613,700 2 788 &N 2,088 A0
Adverlisement, Publizity & Marketing 19.378,516 13.552.529 18,384,311 58,790,239 88,504,005 58 %44 (0%
Travelling & Comveyance 4 856,686 188901 5,M5192 18,389 316 20,314,048 20,314 348
Legal & Professional Fees 2846 831 203122 3212519 11,124,007 12,254 546 12264 345
Contimuing Medica! Eduration & Hospitality Expesscs 972,855 1,076,413 547170 3,742,483 5414203 5414203
Seminn Expeners - - - - - -
Bewka & Periedicals 4¢ 740 56,570 51,100 150,476 204 377 wesT?
Provision for Bad Debis 278,793 (14,428 £30) 8,6 427 (1.429,369) 14,358 611 14,389 611
Bad Debis Writien off 615,495 18,351,805 8,342 21,331,745 13212115 3ns
Leas on Sale of Asset - 47812 - 47,812 - -
Miscrllasecus txpenses 1,109,245 512891 320,175 12267331 422151 422194
Nez forcige cuchange guing’ (loses) - - 737 - 2,457 2657
258,208,384 263 608,177 244,321,128 1,017,688 561 82,075,678 892,075,678
29.1 Paymenls to suditars
8) For sudit 436,550 39,180 655,557 2,000,100 1144200 1,144 800
b) Fog texation matiers & other servives
¢} For reiminuement of expenses
436,550 361,350 655,597 2,000,100 1,144 600 1,144,600
292 Expenditure lacurred for corporate soctal responaibility 1593278 15821 2,747,546 6,546,320 5,619,348

Note:

As per Section 135 of the Compasies Act, 2013 {"Act}, 8 compsay, mesting the applicab)
on carprsle scisl rorponsihility (CSR) sctivities. The aress for CSR activities are Haall
i Envi 1

Hity threshold, needs to spend af loast 234 of its seerage net profié for the immadiately proveding three fnmecial yoars
\heare including Prevestive hesithosss, providing Safe drinking water, saujision facilily, prooeding education, Old Age

inability ssd i i vl of trafiitionat art and handicrafl
29.3 _Income taxes reluting to continoing operutinns
Correspanding Year to date for Year to date for
Particalsrs e = wveeding Three Moo three moaths ended  Currpacperiod  Previoun period Pl et
g . 31.03.2024 ended 31.03.2025 ended 31.03. 3024 ’
Curreni lnx
In respect of the current year (Cunent Lax) 1240852 15,446,503 24,815 535 66,568 857 80,343 620 N0 048 240
In respect of prior years (35558 648) - 25470,147 (28,458 548) 25470147 25,470,147
Otthers - - = - - -
24.417,815) 15,446,398 50,289 582 40,910,196 106 413,807 105 418,807
Net Current tax (24,417,815) 15,445,555 50,285 82 40,910,156 106,418 307 106 418 80T
Deferred tax
In respect of the sutrent year (Deferrad iax) 3,487,546 2,188,414 (13,387,334) (4,347 452} (27450 857) (e LU L)
In respeet of peiar yeses = 2 a 5 - .
Lasz : MAT credil Entiifemenl 12,948,390 - 10,719,852 12,548 330 54,70 R3T 59,708 8317
Less: MAT wrilten back - N - = (45,385 332) (49,946 BR2)
18816438 2.158.414 (2 687 387) 8,001 398 (17588 53%) (17,688 43i)
Totul ipcome tax cxpease(Before MAT Entitlement Credit) (7,801,37%) 17,608 013 47622295 43011 594 88,725,311 €8,719.911
recognined In the curreat vear relating te continuk
30 Cuntingent lishllities: For the yesr ended For the year ended
March 31,2025 March 31,2024
{8) Cluimy sgsisst the Company not acknewledged an debt 50,406,354 73316885
(b} Crassnmises oxchiding finsssial grarstocs = "
(&) Bank Juaranioe 13.002 KR6 15,976,120
(d) Latter of Credit 16£ §73 48R -
(€} Cther memey for Which the company is somiingenly lishle 527531 $,572,331
Cusdosms Duty - =
Servive Tax 17618330 17,616 820
Valug Added Tax - -
Income Tax - .

Gonds and Services Tax




Apolla Hospitals International Limited
Notes to the Standulone finuncisl sisiements for the period ended March 31,2m58
All spsounts zre in Indisn Rupees unless otherwise stated

31 Emphuyes Benefits Obligation:

For th For the year ended
(A) Defined Cantrihution Plans March 31 March 31,2024
Coetribwation 10 provident and other fuds 700, 27.55%,157
Cemribution to Employess’ Siste Insurmsce Scheme = =
Total 14,700,301 39 2795615734

The prowident fund plan is opersted by the Reglona] Provident Fund Conunissloner. Undg
schermes Lo fund.

(B) Post employment henefit obliguiians - Grutuity
The defited lvemefit plan is sdminisersd by LIC which is namadt 1IC Gunp Gratuity Fus
uch 22 longevity risk, cumency risk, interest rate risk and merkel (investsoent) risk.

Reconcilintion of the net defined bencfit {wsset) linhility:
The follewing table shows 2 recencilistion from the opeming balances 1o the chesing balay

fees for net dafined baomefi (usset) fiahifity and its compements,

For the year ended For the yeor ended
Reconciliation of present value of defined henefit obligation March 31,2005 March 31,2024
Balasce af the beginning of the year 71472743 62,301,443
Benefits paid (10,244, 25%) @534
Current servics oot 7547 557 £.792.268
Past service coat - -
Inirast soat 5116350 465017
Actuarial (puins) loses rovognised in other comprebmmsie income
- changes in [inancial asscmptions 2,962297 1287454
- experience adjnsdments SAVT S8 HEAR
- deing ic changes = =
PBalasce at the end of (he year $2,451,676 71,472,163
Reconiilintinn of preseni velue of plan musets:
Plan assets comgurises the fllowing:
Fair value of plan assels as at the beginning of the year T5.679.500 S9N
Expected return on plan asscls 5418778 4310337
Centrihutions paid into the plan 100,600 17,834,751
DBencfits paid by the plan (8,33,747) (,313,437)
Actusrial gains / (lowses) (492,487) (278ME)
Fair value of plan asscts 22 al the end of the year 72366047 75,675,509
Present value of funded ohligations $2451 676 1472163
Fair value of plan ssscts 72,36 547 73,673,309
Net obligation 10,085 620 (4,207346)
Expense recognised in statement of profit and lusa:
Cusreat seevie coat 7,647 857 672258
Past service cost - -
Inferest cost 5116280 4EE0T
Expectad Reiun on plan sasel (5418 788) (4,310.337y
Totul 7,345,189 7,119,948
Re-messurements recognbed in other comprebensive income
Actoarinl (gain) / loss on definsd benefil obligation 8,459,305 L5307
Actussial (gain / loes on plar, sasets 492,487 278,036
(X% 2mises
455 214522
Principal actuarial assomptions:
Expected Return an Plan Assets 719% T4
Rate of Discounting 7184 TAN
Rate of Salary Increase T.00%% T.00%
32 Disclovore under Micro, Smsll and medinm Enterprise Develupment Act. 2009:
Pacticulsrs For the year ended For the vear ended
reh 31, March 31,2024
The amesnts remaining unpsd io micn, small and mediom seppliors a0 ot the
ead of the vear:
ryear 380 042 239749

Inierost

The amout of fiieres paid by the buyer 25 per the MSMFD Act

“The assont of payments madz to micr, small and medinm sopplicrs beyead
the spypmiiniss! day during the sesouniing yoar

The smisint of interest dus and payshle for the period of deley in making the
 puyment{which have been paid but heyoed the appointed day during the vear)
but witheut adding the interest specified under MEMED Act

The aowment of inireat sccrusd 208 resining wipeid al e ed of sach
 accoming

Yoot
The smwent of further inierest remining due and payshle even in the
ing year until such date when the inlsvest does as above are
actually paid to the small enserprise for the purpose of disallowsscs 250
desdesciabls swpenditure under the MEME.

'ﬂ::Mlum'!nfhﬁun Small and Matinm Prterprises haz issed an office memorendig

& wilh its the L dum Numher 2g alln
nchmnumﬂ mi&b-bnmmldnmth:ﬁ-mlm_hde
inierest, if any, that may be peyable in accordance with Lhe provisiens of the Micm, Smal
The Congny has a0l received any claim for inlerest from any supplier.

I dated August 26 2008 which recommends that the Micro and Small Enterprises shuold mention in
Lated after filling of the Memeraschim. Ascordingly, the disclssre in rospect of the smeunts paysble lo

b infuemation recelved and svsilable with the Compeny. Further in view of the masagement, the impect of
I and Maddium Foierprises Development Act. 2006 (The MEMED Act) is not expoctad Lo be material.

L+ the schemes, the Compaay is required 10 conivibate 2 specified percentage of savoll cost 1o the retinment henefit

H ("Fuad’) sat is Segally separsted from the Company. These definel henefit plang expose the Company to actuarial risks,
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Apollo Hospitals International Limited

All amounts are in Indian Rupees unless otherwise stated

Note: 34 Disclosure of CSR activities under section 135 of the Companies Act

Particularns Amount
Amount required to be spent by the company during the year 6,835,768
Amount of expenditure incurred (as per below dgtails) (6,946,329)
Shortfall/(Excess) as on 31st March 25 (110,561)
Details of Expensas incurred Amount
(i) Promoting health care
-Kakaba Hospital 3,000,000
-NCS screening to the college students acrosg India 2,076,755
(ii) Maintenance of Garden from Indira Bridge to|Rajasthan Circle 765,536
(iii) PM National relief fund 1,200,000
(iii) Provisions (95,962)
Total CSR Expenditure incurred in FY24 6,946,329
Calculation of CSR Expenditure to be done for FY25 Amount

FY 23-24

FY 22-23

FY 21-22

Total Profit of immediately preceeding 3 years
Average profit of last 3 years

CSR spend liability for FY 25 - 2% of Avg. profit

of last 3 years

385,153,889
343,788,682
296,422,593
1,025,365,164
341,788,388
6,835,768




Apollo Hospitals International Limited
All amounts are in Indian Rupses unless otherwise stated

35. Financial instruments
Fair Value

The fair value of cash and cash equivalenls, trade recsivables, borowings, trade payable and gther current Financial Assels and liabilities approximate their camying amount fargely due to the short-term e
easured using net assel values at the reporting date multiplied by the quanlity held. Fair value of investmenis in
an active markel for an identical instrument

thesa instruments. Investments in liquid and mutual funds, which are classified as FVTPL are m
listed Equity Instruments classified as FVTOCI / FVTPL is detenmined using the quoted prices in

The lable below analyses financiai instruments measured at fair value at the reporting dale by t
the values recogriized in the stalement of financial position

Leval 1 - Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
Level 2 - Inputs other than quated prices included within level 1 that are observable for the
indirectly (i.e. derived from prices)

Level 3 - Inputs for the assels or liabifities that are not based on observable market data (unoby

As al

servable inputs)

March 31, 2025

assat or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or

Financial Assets Total

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Investments at Fair Value through Other Comprehensive Income
Equity Instrumeanls*
Alternalive Investment Funds

251248 8

Investments at Fair Value through PL
Equity Instruments
Mutual Funds (Quoted)

00.00

251,246,800.00

As af

March 31, 2024

Financial Assets Total

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Investments at Fair Value through Other Comprehensive Income
Equity Instruments*
Altarnative Investment Funds

2512468

Investments at Fair Value through PL
Equity Instruments
Mutual Funds (Quoted)

00.00

251,246,800.00

Details of Financial Assets considered under Level 3 Classification

Investment In AIF's*

Unquoted Investments*

Eartlculars

Balance as March 31, 2023

Gain/ (Loss) recagnised in the statement of profit and loss
Gain/ (Loss) recognised in Other Comprehensive Income
Addilions

Balance as March 31, 2024

Gain/ (Loss) recagnised in the statement of profit and loss
Gain/ (Loss) recognised in Other Comprehensive Income
Additions

Balance as March 31, 2025

Discount rate
for lack of
markatability

Item Movement

Altermnative Investment Fund* (AIF)

Unqueted equity investments®

*Equity Instrumenls inciude investmenis in Subsidianies, Associales & Joinl Ventures af carrying
*Management determined the discount based on judgment after considering the nature of the ft
investments respeclively.

Fair value of Financial Instruments by Category
The following table prasents the camrying value and fair value of each category of finanicial asssy
which is valued at cost

y value

nds and unquolsd aquity

ets and liabiiities as at March 31, 2024 excluding subsidiary

e level in the fair value hierarchy into which the fair value measurement is calegorized. The amounts are

ature of

based on

As af March 31, 2025 As at March 31, 2024
Fair Value
i iue
Particulars Fair Value through Fair Va Fair Value || through
i |
Carrying Value Amortised Cost ocl through Profit or| Carrying Value | Amortised Cost through OCI || Profit or
Loss
Financial Assels
(a) Cash and Cash equivalents * 117,314,205 77,773,748 0
(b) Bank balances* 325,190,718 530,630,414 0
(c) Trade Receivables* 367 845,784 437 470,285 0
(d) Investments** 251,248 800 251,248 800
e) Other Financial Assats *- Non Curle_nt G B48 383 18,584 563 1]
{f) Other Finangial Assets *- Cumrent 2,951,367 74,643 870 0
Total 1,134,497,237 0.00 0.00 0.00 1,390,364,782 0.00 0.001 0.00
|
Financial Liabilities |
() Trade Payables * 234 857 240 201 683 554 | 0
(b) Other Financial Liabilifies *- Non Current 0 3] | 0|
(¢) Other Financial Liabilities *- Current 6,509 156 22 859 835 | 8
Total 241,368,405 0.00 314,52_5.185 0.00 - | 0

* at carrying vaiue
**Investments includes Non cument Investments in Subsidiaries, Associales & Joint Ventures af

Carrying Value.




Apollo Hespitals Iniernational Limited
All amounts are in Indien Rupess unless atherwise stalud

3% Financial nstruments
38.1 Capital management
The Company managas its capilal to ensure that it will be able lo continue as going concem while maximising the return to stakeholders through the oplimisation
of the debt and equity balance. The capilal structure of the company dansists of net debt and total equity of the company. The company’s risk managsmenls
commitles reviews the capilal structure of the compeny on a semi-anfual basis, As part of this review, the commities considers the cost of capital and the risk
associalad with sach class of capilal. The company has a target gearing ratio of 100% of net debt determined as the proportion of net debt to lotal equity. The

gearing ralio March 31, 2025 of 18% (see below) was within the targe} range.
Particular As at March 31, As at idarch 31,
2025 2024

The gearing ratio at end of the reporting period was at folicws.

Debt (inciuding Borrowings and Current Maturities of long term Debt -[Refer note 16 & 17) 5,18,28,519 7,8334,977

Cash and cash Equivalents (include other bank balances- Refer nate [11) 44,2504 923 60, 34,04,163

Net debt 39,06,76,404 52,90,69,185

Total Equity 2,11,94,34,624 1.93,70,97,130

Net debt to aquity ratio 18% 2T%

36.2 Categories of financial instruments
. As at March 31, As at March 31,
Particular 2025 2024

Financial assets

Measured at fair value thraugh profit or loss (FVTPL)

(i) Invesiments in Equity Instruments (other than Subsidiaries, Joinl Ventures and Associates ) - -

(ii) Investments in Mutual Funds s S

(iii) Derivative [nstruments - .

Measured at amortised cost

(i) Cash and cash Equivalents (include other bank balances- Refer ngte 11) 442504923 A0 84,04 183
4208 87151 5121,14,156

(ii) Trade Receivables
(iif) Loans = E:
(iv)Orner financial Assets - -
(v) Finance Lease Assets 2 =
(vi) Investments in debentures and prefarence sharss - -
Measured at CostiCarrying Value

(i) Investments in Subsidiaries 25,12 46 800 25.12 48 800
(ii) Invesiments in Associates - -
(iil) Investments in Joint Ventures - -
Financial Liabilities

(a) Trade payable 24,1386 405 31,45.29,189
(b} Borrowing 4,57 19,144 566,901,853
(¢) Lease Liabilities - .

(d) Other Financial Liabilities

36.3 Credit Risk
The company's exposure to credit risk s primarily from trade receivaliles which are in the ordinary course of business influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each
custarmer. Credil risk is a financial loss to the company arsing from cpunterparty failure to repay according to contractual terms or abligation. Majority of the company's
transactions are eamed in cash or cash equivalents. The Trade Recejvables comprise mainly fram insurance companies, corporate customers, public saclor Underakings,
State/Cenlral and international Gavemment. The insurance companids are required to maintain minimum reserve levels; and the corporale cuslomers are ertérprises with high
credit ratings. Accordingly, the company's exposure to credit risk in relalion to trade receivables in considered low. Before accepting any new credit customer, the company uses
an intemal credit scoring systam to assess the potential customer’s ciedit quality and defines credil limits by customer, Limits and scoring atiributed to cusiomers are reviewed
annually. The outstanding with the debilors is reviewsd periodically.

36.4 Currency Risk
The Company is not exposad fo the cumency risk as the company degls only in Indian rupees and it has no Barrowing or cradit facilities in currencies oti:ar than INR.
36.5 Market Risk
The Market risk for the company is only ta the extend of business corfiracl and services refer to company's, Govemment institutes and individuals.

36.6 Interest Rate risk

The company is nol exposad to interest rate risk as the boawing arg at Fixed Negolialed rate of banks and financial institution.

~ANTS X — 7
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36.7 Liquidity Risk

Ultimate respunsibility for liquidity risk management rests with the board of directors, which has esiablished an appropriate liquidity risk managernent_fra_rqcn?rk for
the management of the company's Short-term, medium-term and long-teem funding and liquidity management requirement. The company manages liquidity risk by

maintaining adequate reserves, banking fa

es and reserve borrowing facilities, by continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash flows, and by maiching the

maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities.
Weighted
2 average 1yearto5 .5
N r
Particulars effective interest Less than 1 year year yea
rate (%)
March 31,2025
Non-Interest bearing
Variable inlerest rale instruments B.55% 66,140,000 12871486 d
Fixed inlerest rale instruments 2. x -
Lease Liabilities 15 64,000 1830000 -
8204000 14701488 .
March 31,2024
Non-Inlerest bearing
V_ariabla inlerest rate instruments 9.20% 1,82,64 080 1,40,43 128 -
Fixad im_are_n‘ rate instruments. 9.50% 2.49240 - -
Lease Liabilities 450,17,131 23 88 860 .
. 62530451 16431888 -
37 Reconciliation of Effective Tax rate
Income tax expense can be reconciled to the accounting profit as follows:
Particulars Armaiint Year ended March 31,
2025
Prafit/{loss) before tax 33,81,97.452
Less: Brought Forward Business Lass -8,70,37,040
Less: Unabsoibed Depreciation =113,75,904
Total Profiti{loss) before tax 23,57,84518
Enactad lax rates in India 29.02%
Ircime tax expense 6,92.25252
Tax eapernise as per Profit & Loss Statement £9911594
Add: Effect of tax expenses recorded In previous years not included in profit considered above 2,56,58.668
Less: Tax on CSR Expanszes {20.22,771)
Less: Deferred tax {charge) / credit In OC! (75 08, 804)
Interest Paid for Delay Payment TDS, GST (91,024}
Any other nature (24,211)
Total 6,928,285 252
38 Suhsequent Events occurring after Reporting Date:
1 In accordance with Ind AS 10 — Events after the Reporting Period. this svent qualifiss as an adjusting svent as it pravides further evidence of conditions that existed as al the reporting date. Accardingly,{the |
Beran ot o

s have been adj d to refiect the marger. Tha reporting

2 The Board of Directors of AHIL on their meeting dated April 30. 2025, recomn
subject lo members approval at the forthcoming Annual General Mesting.

3 We draw aftention to Note 40 in the standalone financial statements, which d

fate for these finencis! stalemants is March 31, 2025, For further details, refer Note 40 of the Standai

Financial Stats

of Apallo Amrish-Oncology Services Private Limited (AAOSPL) with Apollo H

pepitals Intermational Limited (AHIL) with an appainted date of 1 April 2024,

mendsd a final dividend of Rs.1 per share (of face value of 10/- per share) for the financial year ended 31st March 2025, whic

ribes the Regional Diractor. Southern Region Order Ssc 233/A82821585/RD, Channai dated 2504 2025 confirming the m
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Apollo Hospitals International Limited

Notes to the Standalone financial statements for the period ended Marck

All amounts are in Indian Rupees unless otherwise stated
Note 39 - Trade receivables & Related Party

Trade receivables:

) 31, 2025

Category Outstanding balance as per books
Corporale - Public Sector 11,41,53,391
Corporate - CGHS Tariff 5,53,47,078
Carporate - Private Sector 97,72 629
TPA / Insurance 3,22,21,904
Health Schemes — State 2,15,72,527
Health Schemes — Central 3,80,92.959
International (IPS) 1,23,49,471
Others 14,85,675
Apollo Amrish Debtors 7,12,40,798
Other Receivable 1,17,09,351
Total 36,79,45,785

The receivables balances as on Mar’25 is Rs.36.79 crore. Out of these balanges, we have received responses from 19 parties having balances

worth Rs. 11.52 crore pertaining to various segments including central govt, i

nsurance companies ete. against our request of confirming

balances as on Mar’25,

Related Party:

Parties Outstanding balance Confirmation received
Apollo Hospitals Enterprise Limited - Chennai -9,25,96 658 Received
AHEL- ( Project Div ) -54,00,000 Received
AHEL-Apollo Hospitals - Hyderabad - Received
AHEL-APOLLQ PHARMACY JUBILEE HILLS OP -1,45,57,492 Received
Apollo Navi Mumbai -12,80,497 Received
Apollo Amrish Oncology Services Pvt Ltd -9.,06,89,130 Received
Apollo CVHF Limited 2,32,20,992 Received
Apollo Health and Lifestyle Limited - Received
Apollo Health Co. Ltd (247) - Received
AHEL - Gujarat - Received
Apollo Pharmacy Limited -67,101 Not received
Apollo Research Innovation (ART) 3,99,623 Received
Apollo Sindoori Hotels Limited - Received
Apollo Medskills Pvt. Ltd. - Received
Faber Sindoori Management Services Private Limited - Received
Stemcyte India Therapeutics Private Limited 55,48,785 Received
Lifetime Wellness Rx International Ltd - Received
Dhruvi Healthcare Private Limited -5,03,42 660 Received
Family Health Plan Ltd. -10,36,894 Received
Cad Ventures Pvt. Ltd. -3,73,210 Not received
Cadila Pharmacuticals Limited -5,25257 Received
Green Channel Travels Services Private Limtied - Received
IRM Enterprises Private Limited -51,790 Received
TImperial Hospitals & Research Center Limited (Bangalore) - Received




Note 40, Note on Goodwill recognition:

In continuation with emphasis of matler, we want to highlight the impact bed
C).

(ITGF Clarification Bulletin 9, ISSUE 2 (A) (Situation 2)) :

Particulars
Property, Plant and Equipment
Lease Assels
Other Intangible assets
Goodwill
Investments
Other financial assets
Deferred tax assets (Net)
Inventories
Trade receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Bank balances other than
Current Tax Assets (Net)
Other current assets
Other Equity
Borrowings (Non current)
Lease Liabilities
Provisions
Borrowings (Current)
Trade payables
Other financial liabilities
Provisions.
Other current liabilities
Total
‘As per 103, Appendix C ) :
Particulars
Property, Plant and Equipment
Lease Assets
Other Intangible assets
Goodwill
Invesiments
Other financial assets
Deferred tax assets (Net)
Inventories
Trade receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Bank balances other than
Current Tax Assets (Net)
Other current assets
Other Equity
Borrowings (Non current)
Lease Liabilities
Provisions
Borrowings (Current)
Trade payables
Other financial liabilities
Provisions,
Other current liabilities
Total

ause of difference between ITGF clarification and IND AS 103 (Appendix

(In INR Lakhs)
Debit Credit
684,66
607.70
16.08
2,736.50
519.00
116,72
74.39
41.02
1,924.16
12.36
1.74
209.17
82.10
14800
440.16
684,02
59.00
371.03
24563
206.32
56.10
4,073.33
6,654.60 6,654,60
(In lakhs)
Debit Credit
684.66
607,70
16.08
519.00
116.72
74,39
41.02
1,924.16
12.36
1.74
209.17
82.10
2,884.50
440.16
684.02
55.00
371.03
245.63
206 32
56.10
4,073.33
6,654.60 6654.60

The financial statements of AHIL for the year ended March 31, 2025 have begn prepared on a pooling-of-inierests basis, in accordance with the ICAI's

ITFG Clarification Bulletin 9, Issue 2(A). Accordingly, the goodwill arising
has been retained in the Standalone financial statements of AHIL as at March

on the acquisition of AAOSPL on August 1, 2023, of INR 2736.50 lakhs
31,2025 and March 31, 2024
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Apollo Hospitals International Limited

All amounts are in Indian Rupees unless otherwise stated
42 Additional regulatory disclosures as per Schedule ITI of the Companies Act
a) The Company has not revalued its property, plant and equipment (including the

b) No proceedings have been initiated on or are pending against the Company for K
1988) and Rules made thereunder,

¢€) The Company has no borrowings from banks or financial institutions that are sec

current assets have not been filed by the Company.
d)
€)

The Company has not been declared as a wilful defaulter by any bank or financis

The Company is in compliance with the number of layers prescribed under clans
Rules, 2017 for the year under consideraticm,

The Company does not have any transactions with companies struck off under s

g) The Company has not entered into any scheme of arrangement as per sections 23

h) The Company has not advanced or loaned or invested funds to any persons or
Intermediary shall;
a) directly or indircctly lend or invest in ather persons or entities identified in any
b) provide any guarantee, security or the like to or on behalf of the Ultimate Ben

=

The Company has not received any fund from any persons or eniities, including
otherwise) that the Campany shall:

a) directly or indirectly lend or invest in other persons or eniities identified in amy
b) provide any guaraniee, security or the like on behalf of the Ultimate Beneficial
1) The Company does not have any transaction which is not recorded in the books d
assessments under the Income Tax Act, 1961 (such as, search or survey or any of]

k) The Company has not traded or invested in Crypto currency or virtual currency dj

=

The Company does not have any charges or satisfaction which is yet to be registe

43 The Code on Social Security, 2020

The Indian Parliament has approved the Code on Social Security, 2020 which wel
The Ministry of Labour and Employment had released draft rules for the Code on
stakeholders which are under consideration by the Ministry, The Company will a3

44 Previous year figures have been regrouped/re-arranged, wherever necessary to en

In terms of our report attached
For, S.Viswanathan LLP
Chartered Accountants

V C Krishnan
Partner
M No. 022167

Sudhir Kumar Sshu
Chief Financial Officer

Place : Gandhinagar
Date: 30th April 2025

2013

Hight of use assets) and intangible assets,

olding benami property under the Benami Transactions (Prohibition) Act, 1988 (45 of

ured against current assets. Consequently, the quarterly returns or staiements of

al institution or other lenders.

e (87) of section 2 of the Act read with Companies (Restriction on number of Layers)

retion 248 of the Companies Act, 2013 or section 560 of Companies Act, 1956,

0 to 237 of the Companies Act, 2013.

tities, including foreign entities (Infermediaries) with the understanding that the

manner whatsoever by or on behalf of the company (Ultimate Beneficiaries) or

eliciaries

foreign entifies (Funding Party) with the understanding (whether recorded in writing or

manner whatsocver by or on behalf of the Funding Party (Ultimate Beneficiaries) or
Hes.

f accounts that has been swrendered or disclosed as income during the year in the tax
her relevant provisions of the Incorme Tax Act, 1961).

uring the financial year,

red with Registrar of Companies (ROC) beyond statutory periad.

uld impact the contritutions by the company towards Provident Fund and Gratuity.
Social Security, 2020 on November 13, 2020, and invited suggestions from
isess the impact and its evaluation ance the subject rules are notified.

able better presentation and comparability.

Foryand on behalf of the Board of Dirgctors
Diréctor Director
DIN: DIN:
L}
av Nagar
Company Secretary




